

Caregiver skills training for families of children with developmental delays or disabilities

Participants' guide group sessions 1–9





Caregiver skills training for families of children with developmental delays or disabilities

Participants' guide group sessions 1–9

Caregiver skills training for families of children with developmental delays or disabilities: participants' guide, group sessions 1-9.

ISBN 978-92-4-004891-1 (electronic version) ISBN 978-92-4-004892-8 (print version)

#### © World Health Organization 2022

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules/).

**Suggested citation.** Caregiver skills training for families of children with developmental delays or disabilities: participants' guide, group sessions 1–9. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022. World Health Organization; 2022. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see http://apps.who.int/bookorders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see https://www.who.int/copyright.

**Third-party materials.** If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

**General disclaimers.** The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement. The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

Layout by Harri Aittasalo; illustrations by Miguel Mendes.

## Contents

Ackno	wledgements	iv
Introdu	uction	v
1	Session 1: Getting children engaged	1
2	Session 2: Keeping children engaged	
3	Session 3: Helping children to share engagement in play and home routines	68
4	Session 4: Understanding communication	91
5	Session 5: Promoting communication	116
6	Session 6: Teaching new skills in small steps and levels of help	141
7	Session 7: Preventing challenging behaviour – helping children to stay engaged	
	and regulated	165
8	Session 8: Teaching alternatives to challenging behaviour	192
9	Session 9: Problem-solving and self-care	230
Annex	: Summary of tips and key messages	262

#### Acknowledgements

#### **Project coordination**

The development and field testing of the caregiver skills training package has been coordinated by Chiara Servili under the direction of Tarun Dua, Shekhar Saxena (until 2018) and Dévora Kestel (from 2019), WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Use.

#### **Content development**

#### **Main contributors**

(in alphabetical order, with affiliation at time of contribution)

**External experts:** Felicity L. Brown (War Child Holland and University of Amsterdam, Netherlands), Laura Pacione (University of Toronto, Canada), Erica Salomone (University of Milano-Bicocca, Italy), Stephanie Shire (University of Oregon, United States of America (USA)).

WHO technical staff: Chiara Servili (Department of Mental Health and Substance Use, Headquarters)

#### Technical inputs and review

(in alphabetical order, with affiliation at time of contribution)

External experts: Nazmin Abdullah (Universiti Kebangsaan, Malaysia), Amina Abubakar (KEMRI-Wellcome Trust, Kenya), Julnar Al-Kaied (International Medical Corps, Syrian Arab Republic), Carlos G. Alonso-Rivera (International Pediatric Association, Mexico), Ana Andreeva-Sapundzhieva (Center for Social Rehabilitation and Integration, Bulgaria), Maria Paz Araya (Ministry of Health, Chile), Anara Asanalieva (Center for Children with Autism, Kyrgyzstan), Gulnaz Azhymambetova (Department of Health, Kyrgyzstan), Alexandra Bagney (Médecins sans Frontières, Spain), Merry Barua (Action for Autism, India), Tolulope Bella-Awusah (University of Ibadan, Nigeria), Erlinda Borromeo (Autism Hearts Foundation, USA), Daniel Bulte (University of Oxford, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland (United Kingdom)), July Caballero (Ministry of Mental Health, Peru), Carmen Julissa Cayo Medina (Instituto Nacional de Salud Mental, Peru), Ya-Chih Chang (Autism Speaks, USA), Tony Charman (King's College London, United Kingdom), Biyuan Chen (Sun Yat-Sen University, China), Mariana Chervenkova (Autism Today Association, Bulgaria), Chung-Hsin Chiang (NCU, Taipei), Youngmin Choi (Republic of Korea), Brian Cort (Canada), Carla Cortez (Peru), Sebastián Cukier (PANAACEA, Argentina), Cristiane Silvestre de Paula (Mackenzie Presbyterian University, Brazil), Luc de Montigny (McGill University, Canada), Petrus De Vries (University of Cape Town, South Africa), Limia Dewan (BRAC Centre, Bangladesh), Marie-Charlotte Dextraze (Madawaska Valley Homeschoolers, Canada), Gauri Divan (Sangath, India), Pamela Dixon (Autism Speaks, USA), Winnie Dorego (Eastern Visayas Centre for Health Development, Philippines), Svyatoslav Dovbnya (Naked Heart Foundation, Russian Federation), Dzhamilia Dunganova (Kyrgyz State University, Kyrgyzstan), Patrick Dwyer (University of California, Davis, USA), Julian Eaton (CBM West Africa, Togo), Aala El-Khani (University of Manchester, United Kingdom), Mayada Elsabbagh (McGill University, Canada), Mohamed Ali AbdulFattah Mohamed ElShazly (International Medical Corps, Turkey), Camilla Ferrante (University of Milano-Bicocca, Italy), Magdalene Foo (Institute of Mental Health, Singapore), Natsuko Fukuda (Republic of Korea), Daniel Fung Shuen Sheng (Institute of Mental Health, Singapore), Galiya Gaas (Hand in Hand, Kyrgyzstan), Eman Gaber (Cairo University, Egypt), Fe Garcia (World Vision International, USA), Ricardo Garcia (University of Chile, Chile), Jason Garner (Dubai Health Care City,

United Arab Emirates), Tewodros Getye (Nehemiah Autism Center, Ethiopia), Mehdi Ghanadzade (VRF Institute, the Islamic Republic of Iran), Lucky Ghose (BRAC Centre, Bangladesh), Deepa Grover (UNICEF), Sudhanshu Grover (Action for Autism, India), Fiorella Guerrero (University of Florida, USA), Hailiang Guo (China Women's Development Foundation, China), Syed Usman Hamdani (Human Development Research Foundation, Pakistan), Charlotte Hanlon (Addis Ababa University, Ethiopia), Sarah Louise Harrison (International Medical Corps, Turkey), Homayoun Hashemi (State Welfare Organization of Iran, the Islamic Republic of Iran), Paola Hebe Jelonche (Fundación Visibilia, Argentina), Rosa Hoekstra (King's College London, United Kingdom), Maria del Milagro Huaman Lu (Soy Austista y Que!, Peru), Yasmin Hussain (SEAMEO SEN, Malaysia), Judy Hutchings (Bangor University, United Kingdom), Alaa Ibrahim (McGill University, Canada), Ivan Ivanov (Community Support Centre, Bulgaria), Seokyeon Ji (Republic of Korea), Sazlina Kamaralzaman (Universiti Kebangsaan, Malaysia), Tsveta Kamensky (UNICEF Bulgaria), Connie Kasari (University of California, USA), Raheleh Khansari (State Welfare Organization of Iran, the Islamic Republic of Iran), Leekyung Kim (Republic of Korea), Yeni Kim (Republic of Korea), Yongjik Kim (Autism Society of Korea, Republic of Korea), Margarita Kinshina (Ministry of Health, Russian Federation), Phiona Naserian Koyiet (World Vision, Kenya), Vibha Krishnamurthy (Ummeed Child Development Center, India), Kim Kwang-Hee (Republic of Korea), Samer Laila (International Medical Corps, Turkey), Pierina Landolfi (PANAACEA, Argentina), Layma Lankmane (The Way Out Fund, Russian Federation), Janet Lau (University of Hong Kong, China, Hong Kong SAR), Rachel Leung (China, Hong Kong SAR), Janice Light (Penn State University, USA), Miroslava Macheva (Community Centre for Child and Parent Support, Bulgaria), Milena Marinova (UNICEF Bulgaria), Rositsa Markova (Centre for Complex Care for Children with Disabilities and Chronic Conditions, Bulgaria), Helen McConachie (Newcastle University, United Kingdom), Sharynne McLeod (Charles Sturt University, Australia), Nermeen Abdelaziz M. Moharam (Médecins du Monde, Egypt), Inna Monova (Naked Heart Foundation, Russian Federation), Cecilia Montiel Nava (Autism Speaks, USA), Carina Morillo (Fundación Brincar por un autismo feliz, Argentina), Tatiana Morozova (Naked Heart Foundation, Russian Federation), Lucia Murillo (Autism Speaks, USA), Basma T. M. Nakhleh (Pediatric Society of Palestine, occupied Palestinian territory, including east Jerusalem), Young Namkung (Republic of Korea), Thi Nha Trang Nguyen (Vinschool Primary, Viet Nam), Elisey Osin (The Way Out Fund, Russian Federation), Narges Parastari Farkoosh (State Welfare Organization of Iran, the Islamic Republic of Iran), Diane Philipp (University of Toronto, Canada), Shawn Picard (Canada), Rolando Pomalima (National Institute of Mental Health, Peru), Maryam Pourseid (State Welfare Organization of Iran, the Islamic Republic of Iran), Marie-Helen Prud'homme (McGill University Health Centre, Canada), Atif Rahman (University of Liverpool, United Kingdom), Rocio del Pilar Ramirez Flores (Instituto Nacional de Salud Mental, Peru), Salvador Ramírez Gallegos (Mexico), Alexia Rattazzi (PANAACEA, Argentina), Kara Reagon (Autism Speaks, USA), Brian Reichow (University of Florida, USA), Peter Rosenbaum (CanChild Centre, Canada), Cécile Rousseau (McGill University, Canada), Eoin Ryan (International Medical Corps, USA), Sayed Abdullah Sadat (MBC, Islamic Republic of Iran), Bettina Schwethelm (UNICEF), Mawathage Fatima Sudarshi Perera Seneviratne (University of Colombo, Sri Lanka), Koyeli Sengupta (Ummeed Child Development Center, India), Hibah Abdullah Shata (Child Early Intervention Medical Center, United Arab Emirates), Rehana Sherif Yekatit (12 Hospital, Ethiopia), Andy Shih (Autism Speaks, USA), Kimberlee Shoecraft (International Rescue Committee, USA), Norbert Skokauskas (Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Norway), Sofía Sol Hilsenrat (Fundacion Brincar por un autismo feliz, Argentina), Wei-Tsuen Soong (China), Maria Stancheva (Center for Social Rehabilitation and Integration, Bulgaria), Claudine Storbeck (Centre for Deaf Studies - HI HOPES - University of the Witwatersrand, South Africa), Delfina Suaya (Ministry of Health of the province of Buenos Aires, Argentina), Inyoung Sung (Republic of Korea), Markos Tesfaye (Jimma University,

Ethiopia), Hasnah Toran (Permata Kurnia, Malaysia), Vivek Prabhakar Vajaratkar (Sangath Centre, India), Elie S. Valencia (Columbia University, USA), Desislava Vassileva (Autism Today Association, Bulgaria), Krista Vick (University of Saskatchewan, Canada), Manuela Wälchli (Switzerland), Saima Wazed Hossain (Shuchona Foundation, Bangladesh), Inka Weissbecker (International Medical Corps, USA), Nickoleta Yoncheva (Karin Dom, Bulgaria), Anastasia Zalogina (Naked Heart Foundation, Russian Federation), Xiaobing Zou (Sun Yat-Sen University, China).

**WHO technical staff:** Claudina Cayetano (Regional Office for the Americas), Ken Carswell (Department of Mental Health and Substance Use, Headquarters), Bernadette Daelmans (Department of Maternal, Newborn, Child and Adolescent Health and Ageing, Headquarters), Pauline Kleinitz (Non-Communicable Diseases, Headquarters), Khalid Saeed (Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean), Sabine Van Tuyll Van Serooskerken Rakotomalala (Department for the Social Determinants of Health, Headquarters).

#### **Financial contribution**

WHO gratefully acknowledges the financial support provided by Autism Speaks.

### Introduction

This participants' guide is part of a package of materials for the delivery of WHO's Caregiver skills training for families of children with developmental delays or disabilities.

#### Background

WHO's caregiver skills training was developed to facilitate access to parenting skills and strategies for caregivers of children with developmental delays or disabilities.

The target audience is caregivers of children aged 2–9 years with developmental delays or disabilities, with a specific focus on the caregivers of children with delays and impairments in social and communication domains. However, a child does not need to have a diagnosis for caregiver skills training to be used, and the age range can be adjusted slightly depending on the needs of the setting.

#### **Overview of CST structure**

The caregiver skills training intervention is designed to be delivered in nine group sessions and three home visits by trained and supervised non-specialist facilitators. Additional group sessions and home visits can be offered to allow more time for strategies on caregiver wellbeing and for strategies tailored to the needs of caregivers of children who have little or no spoken language.

#### Materials

There are five parts of the caregiver skills training package while two additional parts are being developed:

- Introduction;
- Adaptation and implementation guide;
- Facilitators' guide: group sessions 1–9;
- Participants' guide: group sessions 1–9;
- Home visit guide for facilitators;
- Caregivers of children who have little or no spoken language: facilitators' and participants' guides (forthcoming);
- Caregiver wellbeing: facilitators' and participants' guides (forthcoming).

The introduction provides information on how to use the different materials.

#### How to use this guide

This guide is meant to be used by caregivers who are participating in WHO's caregiver skills training. The guide provides content that will be used during each of the caregiver skills training core group sessions (sessions 1–9). It contains illustrated descriptions of the key messages and tips (skills and strategies) taught in each session as well as goal-setting activities, questions to check your own learning and a template for sharing information on local resources for families (to be adapted to the local context).

#### Content of the group sessions

Sessions 1 and 2 focus on getting children engaged in activities (both daily home activities and play) and keeping them engaged. Session 3 focuses on the development of play and home routines as a means of encouraging engagement, communication, positive behaviour and skills for daily living and play. Sessions 4 and 5 focus on recognizing a child's communication abilities and creating opportunities to promote communication. Session 6 focuses on teaching skills for everyday living in small steps using different levels of help. Sessions 7 and 8 focus on promoting positive behaviour and reducing challenging behaviours. Session 9 focuses on caregiver well-being, problem-solving and setting goals for ongoing practice.

Participants' guide, group sessions 1-9

#### Can I use this guide on my own without participating in the caregiver skills training?

Caregivers who wish to learn the strategies on their own due to personal preference or because there is no local caregiver skills training course being offered are directed to *WHO's eLearning caregiver skills training for families of children with developmental delays or disabilities.* This free course is for caregivers to access directly as self-directed online learning. The course is accessible in English here: https://openwho. org/courses/caregiver-skills-training. A free OpenWHO account is necessary to access it. To create an OpenWHO account, go to https://openwho.org/account/new (you will need an email address to register). Other language versions of eLearning caregiver skills training will be made available. Check https://openwho. org/courses for availability.

#### Adaptation and implementation considerations

For additional information on adaptation of this guide see Adaptation and implementation guide.



## Contents

Introductions and contact information	
Overview	4
Group rules	5
Goals of the caregiver skills training course	6
What we will learn today	8
Personal goals	9
Mary's story part 1: Introducing Jacob	10
Key message 1	13
The behaviour thermometer	14
My child's behaviour thermometer	
Key message 2	16
Mary's story part 2: Learning through everyday activities	
Key message 3	22
Tip 1	
Tip 2	24
Тір З	
Home practice activity	27
Questions to assess your own learning	
Answers to questions	
Services and resources for families	30
Next steps	32

## Introductions and contact information

Our facilitators are:		
1)	Contact at: _	
2)	Contact at: _	
Our master trainer is:		
Our sessions will take p	lace at:	
Call/Text		if you miss a session or will be late



### **Overview**

		Date, time, location	
Home visit 1			
Call to check in			
Session 1	Introduction – Getting children engaged		
Call to check in			
Session 2	Keeping children engaged		
Call to check in			
Session 3	Helping children to share engagement in play and home routines		
Text message reminder about next session			
Session 4	Understanding communication		
Text message reminder about next session			
Session 5	Promoting communication		
Home visit 2 (betweer	sessions 5 and 6)		
Session 6	Teaching new skills in small steps and levels of help		
Text message reminde	r about next session		
Session 7	Preventing challenging behaviour – helping children to stay engaged and regulated		
Call to check in			
Session 8	Teaching alternatives to challenging behaviour		
Text message reminde	r about next session		
Session 9	Problem-solving and self-care		
Home visit 3			
Additional sessions			

#### **Group rules**

## The following rules are intended to help everyone feel comfortable when participating:

- 1) Respect each other's privacy. Do not share anything you learn about other families outside of this room especially their private challenges or problems.
- 2) Listen to others and allow each person enough time to share their thoughts and ideas.
- 3) Be respectful of different opinions.
- 4) Help others by sharing your own experiences with the group and offering suggestions, support and encouragement.
- 5) Place your telephones on silent. If you need to take an important call, please step away from the group.

### Goals of the caregiver skills training course

#### To help your child



Learn to use gestures and words to communicate.



Spend more time sharing engagement in activities and routines with you and others.



Show appropriate behaviour more often with fewer challenging behaviours.



Learn new skills to be more independent in day-to-day activities.

### Goals of the caregiver skills training course

#### To help you



Feel more confident helping your child to communicate and learn new things.



Connect with your child by enjoying and sharing daily activities.



Meet other caregivers who have similar experiences.



Learn ways to support your own health and well-being.

## What we will learn today

- more about how the course can help children and families;
- information about developmental delays and disabilities;
- how to help children learn and develop by getting them engaged in everyday activities.



### **Personal goals**

#### What I want from this course:

(for me, for my child, and for my family)

1)	
-	
2)	
, -	
-	
3)	
0)	
-	
_	

## Things I can do to help obtain what I need from this course:

(e.g. practise at home, talk with other parents, involve other family members)

1)		
-		
2)		
3)		

### Mary's story part 1: Introducing Jacob



Mary lives with her husband, her three children – Jacob, Faith and Abigail – and her husband's mother, Olisa. Jacob is their first child.



When Jacob was 3 years old, Mary began to realize he was different from other children because he still could not talk. Mary thought it was her fault, but she could not understand what she was doing wrong.



Jacob also had big outbursts and it was difficult to get him dressed.



Mary says: "Jacob has always loved watching me cook. When he was little, it was hard for him to sit and focus. But sometimes I would cook and he would help me by fetching me the vegetables I had cut so that I could put them into the pot. He loved that!



Jacob is also a very affectionate child, and we enjoy cuddling him."



Jacob, now 7 years old, is still a very active boy and, among other things, he likes being outside and watching the older boys play ball.



Mary was able to get Jacob a place at his local school, but it was not easy. All children have a right to education, but she had to talk to the principal in advance and advocate for her son.



Mary says: "Jacob still loves "helping me cook". We still spend time cooking together. He loves to put the food I have chopped into the pot and stir it with a spoon."



It is still hard for Jacob to sit for long periods but he can now sit still when he has to do short activities, before needing a break. He has made some progress and can now use some words. He still needs help to get dressed, but changing his clothes is not so difficult anymore.



Mary says "Taking care of a child with developmental delay or disability is a big and often stressful job. It can feel like we are always rushing from one thing to the next, and constantly thinking. Because of this, we can feel quite stressed and overwhelmed."



When it is busy and stressful, we have learned to pause and find a moment of calm. We take three calm breaths and just focus on breathing for a moment.



I am also working on self-care by trying to get enough sleep and connecting with my friends more often. This also takes extra effort and time but it is important that I take care of myself too.



## The behaviour thermometer



## Hot/red (not regulated but agitated)

Very upset, angry or overexcited. Needs help to calm down.

<u>Signs you may notice:</u> crying, screaming, whining, tantrum or meltdown behaviour, running away, rolling on the floor, overexcitement, running around.

## Warm/yellow

# Showing first signs of agitation, frustration, distress or upset.

<u>Signs you may notice:</u> making repetitive sounds, whining, fussing, fidgeting, moving around, looking around, not taking turns or participating in the routine, becoming "unengaged".

## Cool/green (regulated)

## Calm, alert and ready to learn.

<u>Signs you may notice:</u> smiling and laughing, body is still and relaxed, making sounds or talking.

## My child's behaviour thermometer

My child is hot/red when:

My child is warm/yellow when:

Hot/red (not regulated but agitated)

### Warm/yellow

Showing first signs of agitation, frustration, distress, upset.

My child is cool/green when:

## Cool/green (regulated)

Calm, alert and ready to learn.





# Children learn best when they are calm and cool

- It is easier to learn and try to do difficult tasks when children are calm and cool.
- We can use strategies to help children stay calm, cool and ready to learn.

When Jacob was 3 years old, Mary and

# Mary's story part 2: Learning through everyday activities



She then said: "I have checked your son's development. By 'development', I mean the changes that happen as a child grows and gains new skills, such as moving and walking, communicating, interacting with people, playing and learning new things".



The doctor explained: "All children develop at different speeds. Your son is developing differently and more slowly in some of these areas. Your son has a developmental delay. This means that he is having difficulty with his development. There are many reasons why children can have developmental difficulties. We do not know the exact cause."



She continued: "However, I want you to know that your child's difficulties are not your fault and are not related to anything you have done, or to witchcraft, spirits, or other things. Sometimes caregivers blame themselves for not trying hard enough to teach their children, but we know this is not a cause of developmental delays."



"Unfortunately, there is no medicine or quick treatment that will solve the difficulties your son is having, but there are things you can do to help his development.



Continue to show your child that you accept and love him. A safe, secure and loving environment will help your child develop and learn.



Take classes so that you can learn special skills to help him and the rest of your family, and to use best the skills and resources you already have."



Mary went to the course that the doctor recommended. After each session, at home, she practised with Jacob the skills she was learning at the course. Her husband and her mother-in-law could not come to the course, but Mary brought home the guides to show them.



At the beginning, it was difficult, particularly for her husband, to accept that their first-born son was having troubles. But both Mary and her husband persisted in practising the skills taught at the course and this helped Jacob stay calm and be more comfortable.



They learned how to include Jacob more often in everyday activities and how to use a positive, calm tone of voice to help him learn to communicate using gestures and words. The skills they learned in the course actually helped all of their children.



Jacob's parents and grandmother practised the skills every day. For a long time, nothing seemed to change. However, they kept practising and over time Jacob learned to tell his family what he needs by pointing and using some words. Well... most of the time, anyway. Jacob is 7 years old now and he is much happier because he can communicate more easily. Jacob's parents are less stressed too, and their home is more peaceful.



## You can help your child to develop by engaging with her/him in everyday activities and games

- Sharing activities helps your child to engage with others and learn new things.
- Activities include your everyday routines, not just special activities for children.



Eating, dressing and washing



Going to market or going to meet other children



Cleaning chores



Playing, singing, reading, story-telling and dancing

#### - 🔶 Tip 1

# Set up the space: remove distractions and make a safe place to interact





Move away or cover extra furniture, household objects and other favourite objects.



Remove distractions by turning off telephones, television or radio. Ask other adults and children to move away or watch from behind your child.

#### 

# Start with 2 or 3 motivating choices and follow your child's choice

- We can give choices **between items** (e.g. 2 shirts, 2 books, 2 snacks) or a choice of **which activity to do first.**
- You can give your child a choice of which task to do first if you have two tasks and you need to do both. Good choices are tasks that can be done in any order (e.g. wash face or brush teeth first).
- · Choices give children some control over the activity.
- Choices help you understand which activity will be motivating for your child.
- Choices make the activity more interesting and motivating for the child.
- If your child does not make a choice, you can make a choice for your child.



She gives him a choice: wash his face or put on his shirt first.



She washes his face first.



She sees him look at the washcloth and reach out his hand.



Then she helps him put on his shirt.

#### Tip 2, continued



#### - Tip 3

### Move in front of your child, get down to your child's level, and have the activity between you and the child

- Move in front of your child.
- Sit directly in front of your child with the activity in between you and the child.
- If your child sits on your lap, try to turn the child around to face you and bring the activity materials between you and the child.
- It is easier for your child to share the activity with you when both you and the objects are in front of the child.


# Home practice activity

- Choose two everyday activities to do with your child until the next session.
  Choose activities that will be motivating for your child and that occur most days.
- Give your child a choice between activities and follow your child's choice.
- Plan to spend a minimum of 5 minutes with your child for each practice activity. Try to practise the activities every day.
- Remember to practise the tips from this session:

Tips



 Set up the space: remove distractions and make a safe place to interact.



 Start with 2 or 3 motivating choices and follow your child's choice.



3. Move in front of your child, get down to your child's level and have the activity between you and the child.

Key messages

- All children can learn and develop skills.
- Children learn best when they are calm and cool.
- You can help your child to develop by engaging with her/him in everyday activities and games.

## Questions to assess your own learning

Try to answer these questions after the group session to assess your own learning. When you finish, you can check the answers on the following page.

**Instructions:** Choose the best answer for each question from the options below by putting a mark beside the option you choose. Afterwards, check your answers and circle the correct option.

#### **Question 1**

Sometimes when Mary is helping Jacob to get ready in the morning, he is moving around and it is difficult for Mary to dress him. What could Mary do to make it easier to engage Jacob?

- A. Turn off the radio
- B. Crouch down in order to be on the same level as Jacob
- C. Give him a choice between putting on his shirt or pants first
- D. All of the above (A, B and C).

#### **Question 2**

Mary would like to start Jacob's bedtime routine with 2 or 3 motivating activities and follow Jacob's choice. What are two good options she could give Jacob?

- A. Change out of clothes OR Get into bed
- B. Wash face OR Brush teeth
- C. Have a snack OR Brush teeth
- D. Get into bed OR Wash face.

## **Answers to questions**

These are the answers to the questions to assess your own learning on the previous **page.** Check the answers only after you have tried to answer the questions. When you finish checking the answers, go back to the questions and circle the correct answer.

Correct answer to Question 1 is: D: All of the above (A, B and C)

#### **Explanation:**

- Turn off the radio: YES. Removing distractions will make it easier for Jacob to focus on the activity.
- Crouch down to be on the same level as Jacob: YES. Getting in front of Jacob and on the same level will help Mary get his attention.
- Give him a choice between putting on his shirt or pants first: YES. Choices can make activities more motivating and enjoyable for children.

#### Correct answer to Question 2 is B: Wash face OR Brush teeth

#### Explanation:

Mary plans to follow Jacob's choice by doing the activity he chooses first. It is best if Mary gives Jacob 2 or 3 choices of activities that can be done in any order.

- Change out of clothes OR Get into bed: NO. Changing out of clothes needs to be done first, so in this case it does not make sense to ask Jacob which one he wants to do first.
- Have a snack OR brush teeth: NO. It is best to brush teeth after a snack so Mary, rather than Jacob, should decide in which order to do these tasks.
- Get into bed OR Wash face: NO. It is best to have a wash before getting into bed, so it would be better to give Jacob a choice between two tasks that can be done in any order.

## Services and resources for families

This information describes local services and resources for you, your child and your family. [To be completed based on local context]

What can I do if my child is ill?

What can I do if I think my child might have been hurt or abused by someone?

What can I do if my family needs things that we do not have?

What can I do if there are difficulties at home?

What can I do if my family has other challenges?

What can I do if I feel I am not coping well?

Session 1: Getting children engaged

## Notes


## Next steps

Date of next group session:

In the next group session we will learn how to connect with children and help them learn by doing everyday activities together.

If you cannot come to the next session for whatever reason, you are still welcome to come to the following session. If you come to the following session 15 minutes early, the facilitators will help you review the things you have missed.



# Session 2: Keeping children engaged



## Contents

Overview	35
Home practice review	36
What we will learn today	37
Personal goals	
Mary's story (continued): Stigma and beliefs	
Levels of engagement	41
Laila's story: Learning to spend more time in shared engagement	45
Key message 1	48
Key message 2	49
Tip 1	50
Key message 3	
Ways to play	
Ways to play – examples of activities	53
Goals for play	55
Play ideas	56
Tip 2	57
Тір З	
What to use to praise your child?	
Home practice activity	60
Ideas for praise	
Questions to check your own learning	63
Answers to questions	64
Services and resources for families	
Next steps	67

## **Overview**

		Date, time, location		
Home visit 1				
Call to check in				
Session 1	Introduction – Getting children engaged			
Call to check in				
Session 2	Keeping children engaged			
Call to check in				
Session 3	Helping children to share engagement in play and home routines			
Text message remind	ler about next session			
Session 4	Understanding communication			
Text message reminder about next session				
Session 5 Promoting communication				
Home visit 2 (betwee	en sessions 5 and 6)			
Session 6	Teaching new skills in small steps and levels of help			
Text message remind	ler about next session			
Session 7	Preventing challenging behaviour – helping children to stay engaged and regulated			
Call to check in				
Session 8	Teaching alternatives to challenging behaviour			
Text message reminder about next session				
Session 9	Problem-solving and self-care			
Home visit 3				
Additional sessions	3 			

# Home practice review

#### Activities we tried:

#### Good things that happened:

1)	
2)	
3)	

#### Things I can try next time:

1)	
2)	
3)	
•)	

## What we will learn today

- more about how to include your child in everyday activities and share activities to help your child develop;
- tips to notice what your child is interested in and what motivates her/him, and to notice when your child is being good and respond with praise;
- tips to select play activities that are at the right level for your child.



## **Personal goals**

### My child's play skills goals (next steps) are:

1)	
2)	
-	
3)	
,	

## What I can do to help my child reach these goals:

1)	
2)	
3)	

## Mary's story (continued): Stigma and beliefs



Jacob would often get very upset and scream and cry for a long time. Mary was very concerned that Jacob was not talking and that he spent a lot of time by himself. It was very difficult to get him interested in doing activities together. Mary at first did not share her worries because she was afraid of what other people might think.



She would confide to her husband her worries about their son, but sometimes she and her husband disagreed. They were both tired and stressed.



She knew it was not her fault that Jacob was struggling, but it was very difficult to go out with him. Some people in her community believed that children who cannot speak, or who act strangely, are possessed or evil. Others think their mothers are cursed or have done something wrong.



At the group, she found out that many other caregivers were feeling the same way. She heard how other caregivers were struggling and felt isolated from other people in their family or in the community. They found it helpful to talk together.

# Levels of engagement

## Level of engagement: not engaged

- These children are not paying attention to anyone or anything.
- Being not engaged makes it difficult for children to learn.
- Interacting with people and sharing activities together is best for learning.





## Level of engagement: object-engaged

- These children are paying attention only to objects.
- They are not focusing on or interacting with people.
- Being object-engaged makes it difficult for children to learn.
- Interacting with people and sharing activities together is best for learning.



## Level of engagement: shared engagement

- These children are sharing engagement with someone (noticing a person and doing a shared activity at the same time).
- Shared engagement is best for learning.



## **Engagement steps**

Goal: To spend more and more time sharing engagement.



## **Remember:**

- No child spends 100% of the time sharing engagement.
- Children will spend some time at all three levels our goal is to help them spend more time sharing engagement each time we do the activity.
- For some children we will start by spending a few seconds sharing engagement during an activity.

# Laila's story: Learning to spend more time in shared engagement



This is Laila's favourite book. She knows all the words. She likes to say the words on each page in order. She gets upset if her mother tries to tell a different story or skips pages. Laila is often focused on her book and not on the people around her.



Laila's mother would like to share an activity with Laila. She looks and listens in order to notice what Laila is interested in. She sees Laila looking at a page of the book with a tiger in a jungle. Then Laila's mother has an idea for an activity! She brings over a box and some animal pictures. She points to the box and says, "Laila, this is a jungle!".



Laila's mother tries to get Laila involved in the activity. She moves in front of Laila and gets down to her level. She puts the activity between her and Laila. Then she puts a tiger figure in the jungle box and says, "Tiger is in the jungle!". Laila looks at her mother for just a second and then she turns back to the book.



Laila's mother tries again. She notices Laila looking at an elephant in the book. Laila's mother shows Laila the elephant and says, "We have an elephant!" Laila watches this time.



Laila's mother puts an elephant in the jungle box while Laila watches. Then Laila puts an elephant in the "jungle"! This is shared engagement: Laila and her mother are doing an activity together and Laila is noticing her mother and the activity at the same time! Laila's mother wants to encourage Laila so she looks excited and says, "Elephants go in!"



Then Laila looks at the book again and tries to name the animals. Her mother praises Laila by clapping her hands because she knows that children learn best during activities that are fun, positive and full of praise.



## Children have more opportunities to learn when they are sharing engagement – noticing you and your activity

Shared engagement means that the child is paying attention to two things at the same time:

- 1. you, and
- 2. the activity you and your child are doing together.

When you are sharing engagement, you have the chance to:



Respond to your child's communication about the activity.



Respond to your child's actions.





Show your child new words to use in the activity.



Show your child new ways to use the materials.

- **not engaged:** wandering, showing repetitive behaviour, staring off into space or looking around;
- **object-engaged:** looking at objects, lining up objects, repetitive play with objects. When children are not engaged or are object-engaged, they communicate and learn less.

#### O**→** Key message 2

# Children learn best during activities that are fun, positive and full of praise



### -🎸 Tip 1

# *Look and listen* – Notice what your child is motivated by and interested in

- Take a couple of seconds to notice what your child is interested in.
- Give your child 2 or 3 activity options. What does your child choose to do?
- Responding to your child's choice is a way to notice her/his interest.
  Follow only appropriate and safe choices.
- If a child regularly does not seem interested in choosing certain options, it may be because these are too easy or too difficult for the child. In the next activity we will find out how to select the best options to offer your child. We will need to offer options that are at the right level for your child!





# Children can learn communication skills and other skills by playing with you

- Play is a powerful way to build a connection between children and their caregivers.
- Through play, children learn communication and other skills. This is true for all children, including those with developmental delays or disabilities.
- Children are more likely to share engagement and learn if an activity is fun and playful.



# Ways to play

#### There are different ways to play:



#### Why is it important to know your child's ways to play?

- So that you can offer play choices at the right level.
  - Playing the way your child does helps the child develop play skills and share engagement when you play together.
  - Ways to play that are too easy can be boring.
  - Ways to play that are too hard can be frustrating or difficult for the child to understand.

# Ways to play – examples of activities

### Ways to play

 Look at these pictures to find how your child plays now (your child's 'way to play')

#### People games



Swinging or chase games

#### Simple play with objects



Rolling a ball, pushing a toy along the ground

#### **Put-together play**



Shaking, banging or dropping objects



Stacking cups or blocks on top of each other



Putting objects in a box, taking objects out of a box



Building something (e.g. house, village, tower)



#### Early pretend play



Pretend to do a familiar action, like sleeping, eating or pouring a drink into cups



Start to use dolls and animals (e.g. putting animals together in a farm or feeding a doll)

#### Advanced pretend play



Pretend dolls and animals are alive (as if they are walking, talking, eating or sleeping)



Pretend to be someone else, such as a mother cooking a meal for the family



Pretend objects are something else (e.g. a stick is a plane)

#### Playing with books or pictures



Adult names the pictures; child looks or points; adult tells the story



Adult and child take turns talking about each page of the story

## **Goals for play**

### How my child plays now

#### **Goals for play**

The way my child plays now (put an X next to the ways to play your child has mastered):



## My child's next steps in play

Next steps for my child (put an X next to the way to play you will show your child):







Simple Play





Put Together Play

# **Play ideas**

1)	
2)	
,	
3)	

#### Now that you know how your child plays now and their next steps:

- you can plan to offer choices between 2 or 3 activities at the level your child plays at *now;*
- and think of how you can show your child the *next step* within that play activity.
- Try to pick play ideas that are similar to what your child likes or does already.
  - For example, play in the same way with new materials (bang a block with a stick; bang a cup with a stick)
  - Or play in a new way that is not too difficult with the same materials (take things out of a box; put things inside a box)
- When we pick ways to play that are too difficult or too easy for a child, it is harder for the child to share engagement and communicate.
- It is ok to play people games with children of all ages and abilities but always select other play ideas with objects too!
- Play ideas can become more complex as children grow.

### - Tip 2

# Find out how your child likes to play and show the child new ways to play

- Your child may need your help to learn how to play. By playing with you, the child will learn how to play in more complex ways over time.
- This means that:
  - you should play in the way your child plays now;
  - at times you show the child how to play in a more complex way (the child's next step).



#### • This way your child will:

- remain motivated and not frustrated;
- continue to practice her/his current play skills;
- learn more complex play skills (the child's next step).

#### • You can show your child how to:

- play in the same way as the child plays now but with new or more materials;
- play in a new way with toys (a way that is a little more complex than how your child plays now).

### -🎸 Tip 3

# *Look and listen* – Notice when your child is being good and respond with praise

- Engaging in play in and home activities is hard work for your child!
  Watch for skills and appropriate behaviour that you can praise.
- Be a detective! Find as many moments as you can to praise your child.
- Praise helps a child understand that you know she/he is trying to participate.
- Praise encourages a child to try again.
- Praise helps your activities be fun and positive.



## What to use to praise your child?

• **Tell the child that she/he did well.** This will be enough for many children most of the time.

#### You can do this with:

- a big smile, clapping, praising with words ("Well done", "Good try!", "Nice job cleaning up");
- tickling, a favourite routine (such as peekaboo, or swinging in the air).
- <u>Sometimes</u>, you can choose to give your child a small "prize" for trying something new or doing something well. This may work best with activities that may be very important to you or your family but are not very motivating for your child. You could give your child:
  - a favourite toy or object; or
  - a small piece of a favourite food.

# Remember to give your child a big smile and praise her/him with words at the same time too!

Encourage all adults in your household to praise your child.



## Home practice activity

- Choose two everyday activities that you will do with your child or involve your child in. Choose activities that will motivate your child and that occur on most days.
- Plan to spend at least 5 minutes with your child every time you do the activity together. Try to practise the activities every day.

#### **Target activities:**

1) _		
_		
-		 
2) _		 
_		

#### Other activities I could try if these do not work out:

•

 Try to share engagement with your child and remember to practise all the tips we have learned so far:

#### Session 1: Introduction - Getting children engaged

Tips



1. Set up the space: remove distractions and make a safe place to interact.



 Start with 2 or 3 motivating choices and follow your child's choice.



 Move in front of your child, get down to your child's level, and have the activity between you and the child.

#### Key messages

- All children can learn and develop skills.
- Children learn best when they are calm and cool.
- You can help your child to develop by engaging with her/him in everyday activities and games.

#### Session 2: Keeping children engaged

#### Tips



 Look and listen – Notice what your child is motivated by and interested in.



2. Find out how your child likes to play and show the child new ways to play.



 Look and listen – Notice when your child is being good and respond with praise.

Key messages

- Children have more opportunities to learn when they are sharing engagement noticing you and your activity.
- Children learn best during activities that are fun, positive and full of praise.
- Children can learn communication skills and other skills by playing with you

# Ideas for praise

Ways to praise

When I could praise my child
# **Questions to check your own learning**

Try to answer these questions after the group session to check your own learning. When you finish, you can check the answers on the following pages.

**Instructions:** Choose the best answer for each question from the options below. Put a mark beside the option you choose. Afterwards, check your answers and circle the correct option.

#### **Question 1**

True or False: You should praise your child for trying something new (like trying to dress herself) even if she/he does not do it perfectly.

#### **Question 2**

Mary would like to "catch Jacob being good" so she can praise him for appropriate behaviour. What could she try to notice?

- A. Jacob playing quietly while she talks on the telephone.
- B. Jacob sitting in church and only squirming around and whining a little.
- C. Jacob holding still for a few seconds so that she can wash his face.
- D. All of the above (A, B and C)

# **Answers to questions**

These are the answers to the questions to check your own learning on the previous page. Check the answers only after you have tried to answer the questions. When you finish checking the answers, go back to the questions and circle the correct answer.

#### Answer to Question 1: TRUE

#### **Explanation:**

You should praise your child for trying to do something positive, and not just for getting it right. Praise encourages your child to try again. Praise is a type of reward that makes the behaviour more likely to happen again. Praise helps to make activities fun and positive for your child and is especially important for tasks that are new or difficult.

#### Answer to Question 2: D. All of the above (A, B and C)

#### **Explanation:**

These are all good opportunities for Mary to "catch Jacob being good" and to praise him for appropriate behaviour.

- Jacob playing quietly while she talks on the telephone: YES. It is easier to notice when children are being too loud, but it is important to notice and praise them when they are quiet.
- Jacob sitting in church and only squirming around and whining a little bit: YES. Normally, Jacob moves around a lot, so Mary can try to notice times when he is calmer and praise him at those times.
- Jacob holding still for a few seconds so that she can wash his face: YES. It is especially helpful to praise Jacob for doing tasks that are difficult for him.

# Services and resources for families

This information describes local services and resources for you, your child and your family. [To be completed based on local context]

What can I do if my child is ill?

What can I do if I think my child might have been hurt or abused by someone?

What can I do if my family needs things that we do not have?

What can I do if there are difficulties at home?

What can I do if my family has other challenges?

What can I do if I feel I am not coping well?

\_\_\_\_\_

### Notes:

### **Next steps**

Date of next group session:

In the next group session we will learn how to create routines with children by playing and doing everyday activities together.

If you cannot come to the next session for whatever reason, you are still welcome to come to the following session. If you come to the following session 15 minutes early, the facilitators will help you review the things you have missed.

# 3

Session 3: Helping children to share engagement in play and home routines



# Contents

Overview	70
Home practice review	71
What we will learn today	72
Shalini's story: Using play and home routines to create opportunities for shared	
engagement	73
Key message 1	77
Ideas for home activities you can use to build routines	78
Ideas for play activities you can use to build routines	79
Tip 1	80
Tip 2	
Тір З	83
Home practice activity	84
Questions to check your own learning	
Answers to questions	86
Services and resources for families	88
Next steps	90

## **Overview**

E	Date, time, location
Introduction – Getting children engaged	
Keeping children engaged	
Helping children to share engagement in play and home routines	
ler about next session	
Understanding communication	
ler about next session	
Promoting communication	
en sessions 5 and 6)	
Teaching new skills in small steps and levels of help	
ler about next session	
Preventing challenging behaviour – helping children to stay engaged and regulated	
Teaching alternatives to challenging behaviour	
ler about next session	
Problem-solving and self-care	
	Introduction – Getting children engaged   Keeping children engaged   Helping children to share engagement in play and home routines   er about next session   Understanding communication   er about next session   Promoting communication   en sessions 5 and 6)   Teaching new skills in small steps and levels of help   er about next session   Preventing challenging behaviour – helping children to stay engaged and regulated   Teaching alternatives to challenging behaviour   er about next session   Preventing alternatives to challenging behaviour   er about next session   Problem-solving and self-care

# Home practice review

#### Activities we tried:

#### Good things that happened:

1)	
2)	
3)	

#### Things I can try next time:

1)	
2)	
3)	

# What we will learn today

- How to create play and home routines that you can do every day with your child.
- Ways to help you connect with your child and share engagement. (Shared engagement is when your child notices both you and a shared activity at the same time).



# **Shalini's story:** Using play and home routines to create opportunities for shared engagement



My name is Shalini and I live with my husband and family in a small fishing village. We have three children: Rashmi, Dinesh and Viran. My youngest son, Viran, is a different child. He is now 5 years old but he is different from other children of his age.



My other children would often try to play with Viran, and sometimes they would get upset when he did not play. At other times they would ignore him, which made me feel sad for Viran. While my eldest daughter and son would play imaginative games together with the toys, Viran seemed to be content to spend a lot of time lining up household things in rows on the floor.



Over time, I learned that playing together is an important way that Viran can connect with me, but I did not know how to play with him at first. Then I learned how to play with him so we could really play together. At first, I felt pretty silly, and I was not sure what to do. It has been a long time since I was a child! In the past I would try to play pretend with him, but he did not seem to understand that. Viran loves building things. Now I know that the way to play is to look and listen to find out what he is interested in. I can imitate what he does with the toys or I can show him a new appropriate way to play with a toy. Over time I found ways to engage with Viran in play and to start having fun in our shared playtime.



I also learned that I can use the same strategies that I use in play to build routines in other daily activities. I have made routines where I look and listen for Viran's communication and his actions. When we wash dishes, I let him go first. He starts to wash a dish, and then I can imitate him and show him a word "wash!"



When we come home from the market, Viran likes to help me unpack the bags. He takes an item out of the bag, and then I can imitate. I show him words like "take out" and "bread" that I want him to learn to say on his own. We go back and forth until all the items are out of the bags. This is our grocery routine.



Sometimes Viran still gets "stuck" looking at something or lining things up in a row on the floor. When this happens, I show him a new way we can build towers and many times he starts building again.



Sometimes he still suddenly gets very frustrated when I try to show him another way to play, and he pushes me away. This means he is tired or wants to stop, so we take a break or try something different for a while. I know it is important that play should be fun and enjoyable for him.

#### Key message 1

# Build play and home activity routines to help your child learn and develop

- A "routine" transforms play activities or daily household activities into learning opportunities.
- A routine is:
  - a play or home activity that the adult and child do together (You and your child are partners in the routine, with each person having an active role);
  - made up of a set of clear, small steps that make sense and make up a story;
  - restarted and repeated many times in the same way in order to help your child have fun and learn the steps.
- Build play and home activity routines to help your child spend time in shared engagement and learn new skills.
- ✓ You can build routines when you play and when you do other everyday activities.
- Routines are the basis for sharing engagement and learning new skills.



# Ideas for home activities you can use to build routines

Examples of everyday activities that provide opportunities to engage children in routines:

- Cleaning up after meals
- Mealtimes
- Unpacking groceries
- Hanging clothes to dry
- Watering plants
- Feeding animals
- Making the bed
- Sweeping

#### My home routines

1) _		
_		
_	 	 
2)		
_		
_		
- 3)		
_		

- Bath time
- Getting dressed or undressed
- Taking off shoes
- Washing hands or face

# Ideas for play activities you can use to build routines

- Cars and trucks
- Blocks
- Playdough / clay
- Balls

- Books
- Puzzles
- Dolls and characters
- Shakers

Begin with play routines at the right level for your child. You can then gradually add more steps at the same play level and steps at the next play level (your child's *next steps*).





People games

My play routines





Put-together play



Early pretend play



Advanced pretend play

1)	 	 	
2)			
3) _	 	 	



# Join in the routine – Take your turn by imitating what your child is doing



- By imitating, you are rewarding your *child*'s play ideas.
- Only imitate appropriate actions that you want to see again. Do <u>not</u> imitate challenging behaviour (throwing) or repetitive behaviour without any interaction between you and your child (such as lining up the items or looking at the items).

#### Tip 1, continued





# Show and say – Give your child a new step for your routine

Show and say when:

- you cannot imitate your child;
- your child does not know what to do next;
- your child is "stuck" on a repetitive action;
- your child is not engaged and you need to get back into the routine.



- Adding steps makes your routine longer and gives more time to share engagement.
- Many children need help to learn how to play appropriately with toys.
- Show and say helps your child to develop more complex play skills.

#### - Tip 3

# Restart your routine to help your child spend more time sharing engagement

- What was the first step of your routine? Once you have done all the steps in your routine, start again with the first step.
- Start again quickly and try to make it fun and exciting!



- Restarting the steps and doing the routine again makes your routine longer, easier and more fun.
- It is OK to repeat! All children learn from repeating stories when they play. You will probably become bored before your child does!

# Home practice activity

 Choose one home routine and one play or game routine that you will do with your child or involve your child in.

You can choose one of the activities you did before or two new activities. Pick routines you will try to do every day.

- Plan to spend 5 minutes with your child for each routine.
- Remember to practise the tips from this session:

Tips



 Join in the routine – Take your turn by imitating what your child is doing.



2. Show and say -Give your child a new step for your routine.



 Restart your routine to help your child spend more time sharing engagement.

Key messages

Build play and home activity routines to help your child learn and develop.

# Questions to check your own learning

Try to answer these questions after the session to check your own learning. When you finish, you can check the answers on the following page.

**Instructions:** Choose the best answer for each question from the options below by putting a mark beside the option you choose. Afterwards, check your answers and circle the correct option.

#### **Question 1**

Shalini notices that Viran has been spinning a spool (from a spool of thread) on the floor for a while. She would like to play with him so she can help him pay attention to her and an activity at the same time. What should she do?

- A. Get another spool and spin it on the floor, saying "Spin! Spin!" and do this until he gets tired of the activity.
- B. Get another spool and show Viran how to roll the spool down a tilted book and say "Go!", then wait to see if he will try it. If he does not try it, try to *show and say* again.
- C. Take Viran's spool away from him and show him how to roll the spool down a tilted book.
- D. Take Viran's spool away from him and find him something else to play with.

#### Question 2

Viran likes to pick up sticks in the yard and Shalini wants to create a routine with this activity. She gets a box to put the sticks in. What could she do to create a fun routine?

- A. She could pick up a stick, put it in the box and say "Put in!" then wait for Viran to try. After he does it, she can go next to create a back-and-forth pattern. Each time a stick goes in the box she can say "Put in!"
- B. Encourage Viran by saying "Good job finding sticks!"
- C. Tell Viran to pick up all the sticks he can find and put them in the box then wait to see if he will do it.
- D. A and B are both helpful for creating a fun routine.

# **Answers to questions**

# These are the answers to the questions to check your own learning on the previous page.

Only check the answers after you have tried to answer the questions. When you finish checking the answers, go back to the questions and circle the correct answer.

**Answer to Question 1:** B: Get another spool and show Viran how to roll the spool down a tilted book and say "Go!", then wait to see if he will try it. If he doesn't try it, try *show and say* again.

#### **Explanation:**

Viran gets stuck on spinning objects (repetitive behaviour). Shalini wants to show Viran a new appropriate way to play with the objects. She gets her own spool so that they can both take turns in the play routine. She uses *show and say* to show Viran how to do simple play with the spool and tells him a new word: "Go!"

#### Why option A is incorrect:

Just imitating Viran will not be as helpful for his learning. Viran is **object-engaged**. He does not notice Shalini or **share engagement** when he is spinning the spool on his own.

#### Why options C and D are incorrect:

Taking Viran's spool away, even to show him a new way to play with it, might be upsetting to him. When imitating, it is best to use your own similar object rather than using your child's. Answer to Question 2 D: A and B are both helpful for creating a fun routine.

#### **Explanation:**

Shalini can create a routine by starting with an activity that Viran is already doing (picking up sticks) and then showing him a new step (putting the stick in the box and saying "Put in!"). The steps in this routine are: 1) Pick up a stick, and 2) Put it in the box and say "Put in!" She wants to create a back-and-forth pattern to make it easier for Viran to pay attention to her and the shared activity. Encouraging Viran by saying "Good job finding sticks!" will make the activity more fun for him and will help him to continue with the routine.

**Why option C is incorrect:** Telling Viran to pick up all the sticks he can find and put them in the box is giving him a job to do, but the purpose of this activity is to find a routine that they can do together. If Viran is picking up sticks alone, he is object-engaged (paying attention to objects but not focusing on or interacting with people). Shalini wants Viran to share engagement (pay attention to her and to a shared activity at the same time) which is the best for learning.

### Services and resources for families

This information describes local services and resources for you, your child and your family. [To be completed based on local context]

What can I do if my child is ill?

What can I do if I think my child might have been hurt or abused by someone?

What can I do if my family needs things that we do not have?

What can I do if there are difficulties at home?

What can I do if my family has other challenges?

What can I do if I feel I am not coping well?

Session 3: Helping children to share engagement in play and home routines

### Notes:

# **Next steps**

Date of next group session:

In the next group session we will learn about communication and how to help children communicate using gestures and words.

If you cannot come to the next session for whatever reason, you are still welcome to come to the following session. If you come to the following session 15 minutes early, we will help you review the things you have missed.

Please try to bring some of the materials you use during your home practice routine to the next session so you can use them to practise during the session.



# Session 4: Understanding communication



# Contents

Overview	
Home practice review	94
What we will learn today	95
Personal goals	96
Lalitha's story Part 1: Introduction to communication	97
Key message 1	
Key message 2	
Communication goals	
Lalitha's story Part 2: Saanvi's communication	
Key message 3	
Tip 1	
Tip 2	
Тір З	
Tip 4	
Home practice activity	110
Questions to check your own learning	
Answers to questions	112
Services and resources for families	113
Next steps	115

## **Overview**

		Date, time, location
Home visit 1		
Call to check in		
Session 1	Introduction – Getting children engaged	
Call to check in		
Session 2	Keeping children engaged	
Call to check in		
Session 3	Helping children to share engagement in play and home routines	
Text message remine	der about next session	
Session 4	Understanding communication	
Text message remine	der about next session	
Session 5	Promoting communication	
Home visit 2 (betwee	en sessions 5 and 6)	
Session 6	Teaching new skills in small steps and levels of help	
Text message remine	der about next session	
Session 7	Preventing challenging behaviour – helping children to stay engaged and regulated	
Call to check in		
Session 8	Teaching alternatives to challenging behaviour	
Text message remine	der about next session	
Session 9	Problem-solving and self-care	
Home visit 3		
Additional sessions	5	

# Home practice review

#### Target routines we tried:

1)			
2)			

#### Good things that happened:

1)	
2)	
3)	

#### Things I can try next time:

1)	
2)	
3)	

### What we will learn today

- Today we will learn about communication.
- We will start by talking about the ways your child is communicating now.
- Then we will start to learn strategies to help advance your child's communication skills.



# **Personal goals**

### My child's communication goals (next steps) are:

1)	
2)	

### What I can do to help my child reach these goals:

1)	
2)	
3)	

# Lalitha's story Part 1: Introduction to communication



It's difficult for Saanvi to communicate and tell her mother what she wants. Because Saanvi is sitting next to the water jug, Lalitha thinks that Saanvi is thirsty. She thinks Saanvi is trying to tell her that she wants some water by crying.



Lalitha is trying to help Saanvi learn the word "water" so that she can ask for water with words instead of crying. She gives Saanvi a cup with some water in it and says "water".







Lalitha sees Saanvi moving toward her and the cup. She sees Saanvi look up at her. She understands this is Saanvi's way of asking for more water. Every time Lalitha gives her water, she says "water" when she hands Saanvi the cup.



Then one day, Saanvi made a sound – "ugh" – when Lalitha was pouring water.






# Children communicate using words, behaviour without words, and challenging behaviour

- Children may use challenging behaviour to communicate when other ways of communicating are difficult.
- These are ways children communicate:



Words: clear words, unclear words or something that sounds similar to a word, like "ca" for "cat"



Odd words: repetitive sounds, words or phrases, echoed words, repetition of words and phrases heard from videos or books



**Sounds:** crying, yelling, whining, sounds that means "yes" or "no" etc.





**Body:** turning or moving towards something, taking someone's hand to put it on an object (to get help), pulling someone by the hand, turning or nodding the head, gesturing with the head



Hands: pointing to something, showing or giving an object to someone, reaching, grabbing or pushing something away

#### Key Message 1, continued





# Look and listen to notice when your child is communicating

- Focus on your child and look and listen to her/him to notice what they are interested in and when they are trying to communicate with you.
- When your child is interested or communicating, these are great opportunities to connect with the child and help her/him learn new things.



### **Communication goals**

### How my child communicates now

Put an X next to ways your child uses to communicate:

Eye gaze or body movements
Grabs, reaches or pulls you by the hand
Points to ask
Show or points to share interest
Makes sounds
1 word
2 words together
3 or more words together

### My child's next step

Put an X next to your child's next step to communicate:

Use any gesture to ask; make a sound
Point to ask
Point or show to share interest; make a sound
Try to make sounds more often; shape a sound into 1 word
Add more words; combine 2 words
Add more words; combine 3 words
Longer sentences

## Lalitha's story Part 2: Saanvi's communication



#### O- Key message 3

### When you notice your child communicating, find out what message your child is trying to send you

- Children can use words, behaviour without words, or challenging behaviour to try to send you a message.
- What is your child trying to say to you?
- Is your child:
  - asking for something?
  - asking for something to stop?
  - trying to share something with you?
  - trying to tell you that she/he is scared, tired, hungry or excited?





# Respond with words and gestures to all your child's communication, even when it is unclear

- Respond with Show and say Use a gesture (show) and a word (say) to all your child's communication, even when it is unclear.
- Gestures you can use include:







Pointing to the object

Holding up and **showing** the object

Giving the object

- Gestures give children another way to communicate.
- Responding to all communication, even if it is unclear or odd, encourages children to communicate and helps them to learn new and more complex ways in which they can communicate.

#### - Tip 2

## Use words and gestures that match your child's language level

- This means that:
  - sometimes you should talk using the same level of language that your child has now;
  - sometimes you show the child how to talk in a more complex way (their *next step*).

#### If your child is

- <u>quiet, uses sounds or unclear words:</u> sometimes you shape sounds into a word, sometimes you use a word.

#### If your child is talking using

- <u>1 word at a time:</u> sometimes you use 1 word, sometimes 2 words;
- <u>2-word combinations:</u> sometimes you use 2 words together, sometimes
   3 words;
- <u>3–4 word phrases:</u> sometimes you use 3–4-word phrases, sometimes you use longer phrases;
- <u>sentences:</u> you can use sentences.
- This way your child will:
  - remain motivated and not frustrated;
  - continue to practise her/his current communication skills;
  - learn more complex communication skills (their next step).
- Remember always to use a gesture by pointing to what you are talking about, showing your child the object or giving the object to your child.
- Gestures help your child understand your communication better.



### Wait to give your child room to communicate

Stay quiet and wait for your child to communicate (just a few seconds).

While you are waiting, look and listen for:

- sounds;
- words;
- gestures;
- eye gaze (when your child is looking at something).



- Avoid asking questions e.g. Do not say "What happened?" or "Did the tower crash?"
- Avoid testing your child with questions e.g. Do not say "What colour is this block?"
- Avoid telling your child what to say e.g. Do not say "Say 'crash!' Say 'crash!'

#### 🏹 Tip 4

## Talk about what your child is looking at and doing

- This shows your child that you have noticed what she/he is paying attention to.
- Notice where your child's eyes are looking and what your child is doing.
- Talk about (*say*) what your child is doing or looking at.
- Remember always to use a gesture by pointing to what you are talking about, showing your child the object or giving the object to your child.
- Gestures help your child understand your communication better.



## Home practice activity

- Choose two play or home activities that you will do with your child or involve your child in (e.g. play, hand-washing, snack etc.). These could be the same activities you did before, or something different. Choose things you do almost every day.
- When you do the activity, plan to spend 5 minutes focusing on your child's communication and trying to engage your child.
- Remember to practise the tips from this session:

Tips



 Respond with words and gestures to all your child's communication, even when it is unclear.



 Use words and gestures that match your child's language level.



 Wait to give your child room to communicate.



 Talk about what your child is looking at and doing.

Key messages

- Children communicate using words, behaviour without words, and challenging behaviour.
- Look and listen to notice when your child is communicating.
- When you notice your child communicating, find out what message your child is trying to send you.

## **Questions to check your own learning**

Try to answer these questions after the session to check your own learning. When you finish, you can check the answers on the following page.

**Instructions:** Choose the best answer for each question from the options below by putting a mark beside the option you choose. Afterward, check your answers and circle the correct option.

#### **Question 1**

Lalitha's daughter, Saanvi, mainly uses sounds to communicate, like "Ugh" when she wants something. She knows three words: "no", "cat" and "duck". When Lalitha communicates with her daughter, how many words should she use most of the time?

- A. One word and a gesture.
- B. Two-word combinations and a gesture.
- C. Three-word combinations and a gesture.
- D. As many words as possible and a gesture

#### **Question 2**

Saanvi is looking towards the bookshelf. Lalitha picked out a book on dogs because dogs are Saanvi's favourite animal. She opened the book and started reading. Saanvi does not seem very interested. She is looking back at the shelf and not paying attention to Lalitha. What should Lalitha do next?

- A. Hold the book up higher in front of Saanvi's face and keep reading.
- B. Wait, look and listen to see what book Saanvi is looking at on the shelf.
- C. Wait, look and listen to see what book Saanvi is looking at on the shelf, and then help Saanvi to find the book she wants on the shelf.
- D. Decide that Saanvi is not interested in books and change the activity.

### **Answers to questions**

These are the answers to the Questions to check your own learning on the previous page. Check the answers only after you have tried to answer the questions. When you finish checking the answers, go back to the questions and circle the correct answer.

#### Answer to Question 1: A) One word

#### **Explanation:**

It is best to use words and gestures that match the child's language level. Saanvi uses sounds to communicate most of the time and some words. For children who are communicating mainly using sounds it is best to communicate using one word and a gesture. However, it is fine if Lalitha sometimes uses more words when taking to Saanvi.

Two-word or three-word combinations – These are OK sometimes, but Lalitha should mainly use one word at a time.

As many words as possible – Talking at a level that is too far above Saanvi's level would make it more difficult for her to learn. It is best to match the child's language level.

Answer to Question 2: C) Wait, look and listen to see what book Saanvi is looking at on the shelf, then help Saanvi find the book she wants on the shelf.

#### **Explanation:**

Children can use behaviour without words to try to send you a message. It is important to ask yourself, "What is my child trying to say?" In this case, Saanvi is looking back at the bookshelf. Because Lalitha picked the book, she did not have the chance to see what Saanvi was interested in and follow her choice. We want Saanvi to be motivated to look at the book with Lalitha. She is more likely to communicate and share engagement when she is interested in the book. In answer C, Lalitha *waits*, and she uses *look and listen* to notice what Saanvi is interested in and she *responds* to help Saanvi make her choice.

### Services and resources for families

This information describes local services and resources for you, your child and your family. [To be completed based on local context]

What can I do if my child is ill?

What can I do if I think my child might have been hurt or abused by someone?

What can I do if my family needs things that we do not have?

What can I do if there are difficulties at home?

What can I do if my family has other challenges?

What can I do if I feel I am not coping well?

\_\_\_\_

\_\_\_\_\_

### Notes:

### **Next steps**

Date of next group session:

In the next group session we will build on what we have learned about communication. We will talk about strategies you can use to help our child communicate more. We will also see how you can use everyday activities to create opportunities for communication.

Please bring some of the materials you use during your home practice routine to the next session so that you can use them to practise during the session.



# Session 5: Promoting communication



## Contents

Overview	
Home practice review	
What we will learn today	120
Personal goals	121
Fernando's story: Helping Anna	
learn to request what she needs	
Key message 1	126
Key message 2	127
Key message 3	128
Тір 1	129
Tip 2	130
Тір З	131
Тір 4	133
Home practice activity	134
Questions to check your own learning	135
Answers to questions	136
Services and resources for families	138
Next steps	140

## **Overview**

		Date, time, location
Home visit 1		
Call to check in		
Session 1	Introduction – Getting children engaged	
Call to check in		
Session 2	Keeping children engaged	
Call to check in		
Session 3	Helping children to share engagement in play and home routines	
Text message rem	inder about next session	
Session 4	Understanding communication	
Text message rem	inder about next session	
Session 5	Promoting communication	
Home visit 2 (betw	veen sessions 5 and 6)	
Session 6	Teaching new skills in small steps and levels of help	
Text message rem	inder about next session	
Session 7	Preventing challenging behaviour – helping children to stay engaged and regulated	
Call to check in		
Session 8	Teaching alternatives to challenging behaviour	
Text message rem	inder about next session	
Session 9	Problem-solving and self-care	
Home visit 3		
Additional sessio	ns	

## Home practice review

#### Target routines we tried:

1)			
2)			

#### My child communicated by:

1)	
2)	
3)	

#### Things I can try next time:

1)	
2)	
3)	

## What we will learn today

- How to look and listen to notice when your child is communicating to request
- How to look and listen to notice when your child is communicating to share
- How to use everyday activities to create opportunities for communication



## **Personal goals**

My child's communication goals (next steps) are:

1)	
2)	
3)	

#### What I can do to help my child reach these goals:

1)	
2)	
3)	
· .	

## Fernando's story: Helping Anna learn to request what she needs



My name is Fernando and I am a father of two girls – Anna and Roberta. My daughters are only two years apart, but they are very different. Anna is a slow learner, while Roberta is only 4 years old but she is already more mature and can do more things than Anna.



Having a daughter like Anna is not what I thought it would be, but I am sure no one feels prepared to have a child with a disability. I learned early that the most important things I can do are love her, accept her for who she is and try to help her; I do not need to fix her. This is hard for me, however, because I want the best for both my daughters.

The early years were the hardest. There were times when I did not feel well because I was thinking so much about Anna's disability and what it means for her and our family.





Anna did not learn to say any words until recently, and she still gets very upset sometimes and has tantrums. This really frustrates me. It is hard for us when she cannot tell us what she wants or needs, because all we can do is guess, but I realize how difficult it must be for her too.



I have been encouraging Anna to use gestures and words by responding whenever I notice her communicating. I thought that I needed to show her how to use many words, but I realised that I needed to start at her level with one or two very basic words so that she could learn.



I have really focused on noticing when Anna seems to want something. When I see that she wants something, I know it is important to wait a few seconds to give her a chance to request. If she does not, I can use simple words and a gesture to show her how to request.



Even if Anna does not try to request in the way I showed her, I just show her one more time and give her the toy right away. I know it is important never to withhold food, water or favourite items from a child.



I also try to notice my daughter's behaviour when something unexpected or exciting happens. Anna really loves cats, and when we see a cat, I wait a few seconds to give her a chance to share. If she does not share, I use simple words and a gesture to show her how to share something interesting with me.



I think in the past I was always in a hurry, but Anna needs extra time to think. She is now beginning to show us what she wants and needs and she is slowly learning more and more. Her behaviour has been getting better too. I am also helping my youngest daughter to improve her communication by adding more words when I talk to her.



# Look and listen to notice when your child is communicating to <u>request</u>



#### 💁 Key message 2

## Look and listen to notice when your child is communicating to <u>share</u>

- The other main reason we communicate is to share (we show or tell someone about something).
- Communicating to share means communicating for the purpose of sharing your interest with another person.
- When you are communicating to share, you are trying to share an experience with another person:
  - you may be trying to get the other person to notice something (e.g. an object, person, event) that is interesting or unexpected;
  - you may be trying to get the other person to notice your emotion about something that just happened (e.g. surprise, fear, joy, puzzlement).
- Communication to share is especially difficult for some children.

Children may communicate to share:





Something exciting or new

Something unexpected



A favourite item, activity, person etc.



# Use everyday activities to create opportunities for communication



### ݩ Tip 1

# Show and say – Demonstrate words and gestures that your child can use to communicate





## Repeat your child's words and expand your child's language

 When you notice your child communicating, say the same words as your child and <u>add</u> one new word.

**Reminder:** Adding too many words can be confusing and too difficult for children to use on their own. Try adding only one word.



### 🏹 Tip 3

# Create opportunities for your child to request

Try these options with activities, food or toys your child likes:

- Keep objects out of reach, but in sight so your child can point to or reach for them.
- Offer your child a choice by holding two items in sight but out of reach. Ask "Do you want toy or ball?"
- Give one item at a time or small pieces of something while keeping the rest out of reach. Wait to see if your child will ask for more (*Give*, *Give*, *Give*, *Give*, *Wait*).

**Remember: never to keep food or water from your child.** Give your child food and water whenever you think she/he needs it.

When you are promoting communication to request, it is important to hold items out of reach so the child cannot grab them (grabbing is not communication to request).



Keep objects out of reach, but in sight



Offer your child a choice and hold the items out of reach



Give one item at a time, then wait (*Give, Give, Give, Wait*)

#### Tip 3, continued



As soon as your child communicates that she/he wants more (with eyes, sound, reaching etc.), give more right away.

Use words your child can use to request.

#### ݩ Tip 4

# Create opportunities for your child to communicate to share

- This works well within a routine that you and your child know well.
- 1) Create a "surprise effect" in your routine
  - You could try something unexpected or fun, such as putting the block on your head, rather than on the other blocks.
  - You could use any opportunity of something unexpected happening, such as a loud noise from outside or the blocks falling down.
- 2) Wait to see if your child communicates to share her/his interest or emotion with you.
- 3) If she/he does not, *show and say* (demonstrate words and gestures your child can use to share her/his interest), then wait for your child to share in return.



## Home practice activity

- Choose 1 everyday activity that you will do with your child or involve your child in. This could be the same as a routine you did before, or something different. Choose something you do almost every day or every day.
- When you do the activity, plan to spend at least 5 minutes noticing when your child communicates to share or request.
- You can create opportunities for your child to share by
  - trying something unexpected or fun and seeing if your child shares it with you;
  - waiting, demonstrating words and gestures that your child can use to share, and waiting again to see if she/he tries to use them.
- You can create opportunities for your child to request by
  - keeping objects your child likes out of reach but within the child's sight;
  - giving your child a choice between two things;
  - giving small pieces of something your child wants while keeping the rest out of reach (*Give, Give, Give, Wait*).

#### • Remember to practise the tips from this session:

Tips



 Show and say 2.
 Demonstrate words and gestures that your child can use to communicate.



. Repeat your child's words and expand your child's language.



 Create opportunities for your child to request



4.

Create opportunities for your child to communicate to share.

Key messages

- Look and listen to notice when your child is communicating to <u>request</u>.
- Look and listen to notice when your child is communicating to <u>share</u>
- Use everyday activities to create opportunities for communication.
# Questions to check your own learning

Try to answer these questions after the session to check your own learning. When you finish, you can check the answers on the following page.

**Instructions:** Choose the best answer for each question from the options below by putting a mark beside the option you choose. Afterwards, check your answers and circle the correct option.

#### **Question 1**

Fernando is trying to help his daughter, Anna, to learn to ask for things. What could he do to help her learn to request at snack time?

- A. Offer her a choice of two different kinds of fruit by holding them up outside of her reach and asking "Do you want <u>banana</u> or <u>melon</u>?"
- B. Break off a small piece of banana and give it to her, then wait to see if she will ask for another piece.
- C. Do not give her a snack until she requests it.
- D. A and B are good choices but C is not a good choice.

#### Question 2

Fernando and Anna are walking outside when Anna notices a big brown dog and says "Dog!" Fernando notices that Anna is interested in the dog. He wants to repeat her words and expand her language. What should he do?

- A. Say "That's a very big brown dog!"
- B. Say "Wow, what a big dog! Look, look there are birds in that tree over there!"
- C. Say "Big dog" and point at the dog.
- D. Look over at the dog but say nothing.

# **Answers to questions**

# These are the answers to the questions to check your own learning on the previous page.

Check the answers only after you have tried to answer the questions. When you finish checking the answers, go back to the questions and circle the correct answer.

Answer to Question 1: D: A and B are good choices, but C is not a good choice.

#### **Explanation:**

These are good choices to help a child to learn to request:

- Offer a choice by holding two items in the child's sight but out of reach and asking the child which one they want.
- Give small pieces of something one at a time and keep the rest out of reach. Wait to see if your child will ask for more.
- Keep objects out of reach but in the child's sight so that your child can point or reach for them.

Why option C is incorrect: Keeping food or water from a child will not help the child learn. Even if Anna does not try to ask for snack, her father should give her food and water whenever he thinks she needs it. Answer to Question 2: C: Say "Big dog" and point at the dog.

#### **Explanation:**

When you notice your child communicating, say the same words as your child and try adding **one** new word. Anna used one word "Dog", so Fernando should add one more word. He could say "Big dog" or "Brown dog" or "Walk dog". Using gestures when you talk is also important so Fernando should gesture by pointing to the dog.

- Answer A: Saying "That's a very big brown dog!" is too many words. Also, Fernando should use a gesture, like pointing, when he says the words.
- Answer B uses too many words and also demands the child change her focus to what the adult is interested in rather than follow the child's interest in the dog.
- Answer D: [Look over at the dog but say nothing] Pointing at the dog should be combined with words: Fernando should repeat the word that Anna used and add one more word and point to the dog at the same time. Repeating and expanding language is good, and modelling pointing shows the child how to use gesture with words at the same time.

# Services and resources for families

This information describes local services and resources for you, your child and your family. [To be completed based on local context]

What can I do if my child is ill?

What can I do if I think my child might have been hurt or abused by someone?

What can I do if my family needs things that we do not have?

What can I do if there are difficulties at home?

What can I do if my family has other challenges?

What can I do if I feel I am not coping well?

Session 5: Promoting communication

### Notes:

# Next steps

Date and time of home visit:

Date of next group session:

In the next group session we will discuss how you can help your child to learn skills for daily living

If you cannot come to the next session for whatever reason, you are still welcome to come to the following session. If you come to the following session 15 minutes early, the facilitators will help you to review the things you have missed.

# 

Session 6: Teaching new skills in small steps and levels of help



# Contents

Overview	143
Home practice review	144
What we will learn today	145
Personal goals	146
Mimi's story: Teaching a routine in small steps	147
Key message 1	150
Tip 1	151
Using pictures to teach small steps of a routine	152
Example: Picture schedule for washing hands	152
Levels of help	153
Tip 2	154
Тір З	155
Tip 4	156
Home practice activity	157
Questions to check your own learning	159
Answers to questions	160
Services and resources for families	
Next steps	164

# **Overview**

		Date, time, location
Home visit 1		
Call to check in		
Session 1	Introduction – Getting children engaged	
Call to check in		
Session 2	Keeping children engaged	
Call to check in		
Session 3	Helping children to share engagement in play and home routines	
Text message remir	nder about next session	
Session 4	Understanding communication	
Text message remir	nder about next session	
Session 5	Promoting communication	
Home visit 2 (betw	een sessions 5 and 6)	
Session 6	Teaching new skills in small steps and levels of help	
Text message remir	nder about next session	
Session 7	Preventing challenging behaviour – helping children to stay engaged and regulated	
Call to check in		
Session 8	Teaching alternatives to challenging behaviour	
Text message remir	nder about next session	
Session 9	Problem-solving and self-care	
Home visit 3		
Additional sessior	IS	

# Home practice review

#### Target routines we tried:

1)	
2)	
l m	ade opportunities for my child to communicate to share or request when I:
1)	
2)	
-	child communicated by:
т)	
2)	

#### Things I can try next time:

1)	
2)	
3)	

# What we will learn today

- how to divide big tasks, such as dressing and handwashing, into small steps;
- how to select which small step to teach first;
- that there are different levels of help you can provide to help your child learn the steps;
- how to give your child the lowest level of help necessary, both in play and home routines.



# **Personal goals**

One daily routine I want my child to do successfully is:

Today we will focus on breaking this routine into small steps.

We will pick one step to begin to teach the child

The small steps in my target routine are:

# My child can do this step on her/his own

1)	
2)	
3)	
4)	
5)	
6)	
7)	
8)	

Circle the small step you will teach first.

# Mimi's story: Teaching a routine in small steps



My name is Mimi and I am the caregiver for my grandson, Abel, who was diagnosed with a developmental disability when he was three years old.



Abel is different. He does not say much, and he can spend hours sitting by himself. He likes to hum to himself, look up at the lights and move his fingers in front of his eyes. Other people think this behaviour is strange, but I think it is fine because it seems to calm him down. He will not usually look at you – but I have taught him a few songs that we like to sing together, and he seems to like it when I tell him stories before bed.



I wanted Abel to learn how to do more things on his own like wash his hands. At first, we were having a difficult time getting him to do anything at all. I was just doing everything for him.



Then I learned how to break each activity down into very small steps to help him understand what he needed to do. I taught him just one small step at a time and provided him with lots of help at first. I started by teaching him to dry his hands because it is an easy step and he likes the feeling of the towel on his hands.



I still need to help with steps that are difficult.



I give him lots of encouragement just by saying what he is doing, like "Abel, we are washing hands!" I think learning to do these small steps on his own makes us both feel proud of him.



With a lot of practice and encouragement, Abel is now able to do many of the steps to wash his hand by himself! I still need to help Abel to turn on the tap and put the soap in his hands. But now after a lot of practice, Abel can rub the soap in his hands, put it back in the tray, scrub his hands under the water until the soap is gone, and dry his hands on a towel. I still need to help to turn off the tap, but Abel is doing most of the work himself. With some help, he is learning to dress himself too.



# Your child can learn new skills for everyday life by practising with your help

- You can help your child to learn new skills for everyday life by helping them and practising with them every day.
- The skills for everyday life that we will talk about in this session are getting dressed and undressed and washing hands.
- You can use the strategies from this session to help your child learn new skills in many contexts: play skills, other skills in home routines and everyday life.



### ݩ Tip 1

# Break the skill into small steps and teach your child one small step at a time



# Using pictures to teach small steps of a routine

Example: Picture schedule for washing hands



"Turn on water"



"Rub soap"



"Rinse hands"



"Hands in water"



"Put down soap"



"Turn off water"



"Pick up soap"



"Rub hands"



# Levels of help

These are the different levels of help you can give your child when you are teaching a small step of a bigger task. We focus on self-care skills for everyday life but you can also use these strategies to teach other skills, such as play skills and skills for other home routines.





#### LEVEL 1: Show and say

Show your child what to do and say the step in words your child can understand. If your child does not try it, say the step one more time to remind the child.

#### Giving more help



#### LEVEL 2: Give a little physical help to start or finish the action.

In this example, the caregiver takes the child's hand and gently helps him to start to pull the zipper from the bottom. Then the child finishes the step.

#### The highest level of help





LEVEL 3: <u>Give a lot of physical help</u> by gently taking the child's hand and doing the whole action from start to finish.

🏹 Tip 2

# Let your child learn! Give the lowest level of help needed for your child to be successful



### 🎸 Tip 3

# Give clear and consistent instructions and praise your child for trying

- Use language that your child can understand.
- Give similar instructions each time.
- Stay positive and praise your child every time she/he tries the step.





## Ask yourself: can I teach a different step?

To teach your child a big task or routine, you will focus on different small steps over time.

- Each time you practise, ask yourself:
  - Is the step we are working on too hard? Is there a different step that would be better to teach first?
  - Is the step we are working on too easy? Can my child already do this step with little or no help? If yes, then I can teach the next small step in the big task.



Our goal was for the child to learn the first step. Now the child can do the first step, we need a new goal.



The child needs help to get her head in the shirt so mother will give a reminder and say the step again.



Our new goal is for the child to put the shirt over her head.



The child needs more help, so mother adds a little physical help and gently starts to pull the shirt over her child's head.



# Home practice activity

- Continue to practise two home routines with your child. These could be the same routines you did before, or something different. When you do the routines, plan to spend at least 5 minutes with your child and notice and respond to your child's communication.
- Choose one small step of a bigger task within one of the routines that you want your child to learn. Try to practise this task at least three times per week.
- Plan the level of help you will start with The three levels are 1) Show and say, 2) a little physical help and 3) a lot of physical help.

#### My home practice plan

- 1. Target Routine (bigger task):\_\_\_\_\_
- 2. Small step that I will teach:
- 3. Level of help I will give (Circle):

Show and say

A little physical help

A lot of physical help

#### Remember to practise the tips from this session:

TAKE OFF SHOP

#### Tips



- 1. Break the skill into small steps and teach your child one small step at a time.
- Let your child learn! Give the lowest

level of help needed for

your child to be successful.



 Give clear and consistent instructions and praise your child for trying.



4. Ask yourself: can I teach a different step?

Key messages

 Your child can learn new skills for everyday life by practising with your help.

# **Questions to check your own learning**

Try to answer these questions after the session to check your own learning. When you finish, you can check the answers on the following page.

**Instructions:** Choose the best answer for each question from the options below. Afterward, check your answers and circle the correct option.

#### Question 1

Mimi is trying to teach her grandson Abel how to wash his face with a cloth. She started by teaching him the first step: getting the cloth and bringing it to the sink. Now he can do that step on his own. Mimi turns on the tap because it is difficult for Abel to do and she gives him a little physical help to get the cloth wet. Abel does not like to have his face wiped with the cloth, so Mimi does that for him. Afterward, Mimi hangs up the cloth and they sing a song together, which Abel really likes. "Mimi would like to keep the activity fun and motivating for Abel. What would be the best step to teach him next?

- A. Get the cloth and bring it to the sink.
- B. Turn on the tap.
- C. Wet the cloth.
- D. Wipe his face with the cloth.
- E. Hang up the cloth to dry before they sing a song together.

#### **Question 2**

Mimi decides to teach Abel the last step of the routine: hang up the cloth to dry. What level of help could she try first?

- A. Show and say.
- B. A little physical help.
- C. A lot of physical help.

# **Answers to questions**

These are the answers to the questions to check your own learning on the **previous page.** Check the answers only after you have tried to answer the questions. When you finish checking the answers, go back to the questions and circle the correct answer.

Answer to Question 1: E: Hang up the cloth to dry before they sing a song together.

#### **Explanation:**

This would be a good step for Mimi to choose next because it is simple and it will probably be a fun and motivating step for Abel. By learning to hang up the cloth he is able to finish the task on his own and then sing a song with his grandmother right afterwards, which he enjoys.

- A. Get the cloth and bring it to the sink No, Abel can already do this step on his own, so Mimi does not need to work on it any longer. She should be consistent and should continue to have Abel do it on his own. She should try to remember not to do this step for him, even if she can do it faster than Abel does.
- B. Turn on the tap This is the next step after Abel gets the cloth. However, it is a difficult step for Abel, so it is not the best one to work on next, even though it comes right after a step he can do on his own.
- C. Wet the cloth Mimi could work on this step, but it comes in the middle of the task and it is followed by a step that Abel does not like (having his faced wiped with the cloth) so it is probably not the most fun or motivating step.
- D. Wipe his face with the cloth No, Abel does not like this step, so it might be harder to teach him to do it on his own. It is probably best to teach him the easier steps first.

#### Answer to Question 2: A: Show and say

#### **Explanation:**

Mimi thinks that Abel will be able to do this simple step on his own, so she will use the lowest amount of help to start: *Show and say*. If Abel is successful in doing this step on his own, Mimi can continue to use this lower level of help. If Abel is not successful, she can try a higher level of help for a while longer.

- B. A little physical help and
- C. A lot of physical help

No, Mimi thinks that Abel will be able to hang up the cloth on his own so it is best if she starts with a lower level of help and increases the level of help if needed. Her goal is for Abel to do the step with as little help as possible.

# Services and resources for families

This information describes local services and resources for you, your child and your family. [To be completed based on local context]

What can I do if my child is ill?

What can I do if I think my child might have been hurt or abused by someone?

What can I do if my family needs things that we do not have?

What can I do if there are difficulties at home?

What can I do if my family has other challenges?

What can I do if I feel I am not coping well?

Session 6: Teaching new skills in small steps and levels of help

### Notes:

# Next steps

Date of next group session:

In the next group session we will discuss child behaviour, positive behaviour, and skills.

If you cannot come to the next session for whatever reason, you are still welcome to come to the following session. If you come to the following session 15 minutes early, we will help you review the things you have missed.

Session 7: Preventing challenging behaviour – helping children to stay engaged and regulated



# Contents

Overview	167
Home practice review	168
What we will learn today	170
Personal goals	171
Ling's story: Understanding children's behaviour and regulation	172
What is behaviour?	175
The behaviour thermometer	176
Tip 1	177
Key message 1	178
Tip 2	180
Тір З	181
Tip 4	
Before, During and After Behaviour chart for Session 7	184
Home practice activity	185
Questions to check your own learning	186
Answers to questions	188
Services and resources for families	
Next steps	191

# **Overview**

		Date, time, location
Home visit 1		
Call to check in		
Session 1	Introduction – Getting children engaged	
Call to check in		
Session 2	Keeping children engaged	
Call to check in		
Session 3	Helping children to share engagement in play and home routines	
Text message rem	inder about next session	
Session 4	Understanding communication	
Text message rem	inder about next session	
Session 5	Promoting communication	
Home visit 2 (betw	veen sessions 5 and 6)	
Session 6	Teaching new skills in small steps and levels of help	
Text message rem	inder about next session	
Session 7	Preventing challenging behaviour – helping children to stay engaged and regulated	
Call to check in		
Session 8	Teaching alternatives to challenging behaviour	
Text message rem	inder about next session	
Session 9	Problem-solving and self-care	
Home visit 3		
Additional sessio	ns	

# Home practice review

In the past week we focused on breaking a routine into small steps and helping our child to learn one small step.

Routine 1	:			
Target small step:				
Level of h	elp I gave (Circle	):		
	Show and say	A little physical help	A lot of physical help	
Next time	l can try:			
•				
•				

	Session 7: Preventing challenging behaviour – helping children to stay engaged and regulated		
Routine 2:			
Target small step:			
Level of help I gave (Circ	le):		
Show and say	A little physical help	A lot of physical help	
Success we had:			
Next time I can try:			
•			
•			
_			
•			

# What we will learn today

- How to help children to stay regulated (calm, cool and ready to learn).
- How to understand the messages children are trying to send us using challenging behaviour.
- Ways to try to prevent the challenging behaviour.


# **Personal goals**

### My target routines are:

1)	
2)	

	Want to see more (appropriate behaviour)	Want to see less often (challenging behaviour)
Routine 1:		
Routine 2:		

## Ling's story: Understanding children's behaviour and regulation



My name is Ling. I have a son, Wei, who was diagnosed with a delay when he was very young. We live with my husband, Jun and my mother, Lanfen. Wei is now 6 years old and I am glad to report that we have come very far from where we started.



It is difficult to know how to teach your child to behave. Sometimes we think we need to be harsh so that the child will learn. But through the parenting course, I have learned about other, better ways to teach a child how to behave. I must admit that I lost my patience with my son all the time when he was a toddler. Mealtimes were a challenge. Wei turned our mealtimes into a game where he would get up from the table and run around. He would smile at me and laugh since, like many small children he thought the chase game was fun! Unfortunately, it was not fun for me or for the rest of our family.



I explained our challenges at mealtime to a nurse we saw at the clinic. She told me that she would check to make sure there was nothing medically wrong with Wei's stomach and digestive system. We had tests done at the clinic and the doctor said everything was normal. The nurse explained that there are strategies I can use to help make our mealtimes better.

She explained that, like many young children, Wei wants my attention – any kind of attention! Not only when I praise him, but also when I yell at him to come back to the table. These are both ways of giving him attention.



I learned that when Wei is running and laughing very hard he is having difficulty in keeping his body "regulated". I can help Wei by quietly giving his shoulders some pressure by pressing and squeezing with my hands. This helps Wei to stay regulated and to settle down and sit in his chair.



I also learned that I need to set up our mealtime environment to help Wei stay in his chair.

I was putting Wei's chair at the end of the table and it was very easy for him to get up. Now, I sit at the end of the table and Wei sits across the corner of the table from me in his chair against the wall.

I made a smaller space so it is more difficult for Wei to jump out of his chair.



I also learned to give Wei lots of attention and praise for sitting at the table and eating his meal.

The moment he sat in his chair I would praise him and give him lots of attention "Wei, you are sitting so nicely!"

# What is behaviour?

## Behaviour includes everything we do!

1) Skills

The "good behaviour" that you want to see more of



2) Challenging behaviour

The behaviour you want to stop or see less of



## The behaviour thermometer

What did you notice about your child's behaviour this week?



## ݩ Tip 1

# Respond to skills and appropriate behaviour with praise and encouragement

- Notice when your child is "being good" (behaving well) or doing something well. Respond with attention, smiles and kind words.
- Praise and encourage your child for trying difficult tasks (e.g. by saying "You are trying!" or "You are helping!")



- Praise can help your child stay regulated and engaged in your activity.
- Praise rewards the child and makes the behaviour more likely to happen again.



## Children can communicate by using challenging behaviour to get access or attention, to avoid something or to get a sensation

 Behaviour happens for a reason, although sometimes the reason for the behaviour is difficult to understand.

We need to understand the reason for a child's challenging behaviour to help stop it or make it happen less often.





Behaviour can help children get access to something they want.



Behaviour can help a child get attention from someone.

#### Key Message 1, continued



### 🏹 Tip 2

# *Look and listen* for signals *before* the challenging behaviour

Think about what happened right before the behaviour and ask yourself:

- What was my child doing when I approached?
- Is this type of situation especially difficult for me or my child? (For instance, it is very difficult for my child to put her favourite cars away, or we were going on an outing that my child does not enjoy.)
- What was my child's behaviour like when I approached? Cool, warm, hot?
- Was my child trying to communicate something to me (e.g. how they were feeling, or what they wanted or needed) through the challenging behaviour?
- Did my child understand my instructions?



It is easier for children to come back to "green/cool" when they are showing only the first signs of being upset.

### ݩ 🕇 Тір З

## Arrange your environment and give warnings before changing activities to help your child stay cool

#### 1) Set up the environment:

- Reduce clutter by taking away extra objects.
- Add structure (e.g. a table and chair or a place to sit with the child's back against a wall).

#### 2) Give warnings before changing activities:

- Tell your child several minutes in advance of changing activities.
- Say how many minutes are left and then count down the last few seconds.
- Give your child a clear instruction and help your child to follow it when the time is up.
- You can also use a timer so your child can see how much time is left.
- In the next session we will also talk about how you can use a picture schedule to help your child to know what is coming next.

Setting up the environment and giving warnings before you change activities will help your child to stay calm and cool.



Reduce clutter and add structure (e.g. a table and chair).



Give warnings before changing activities.

### 👋 Tip 4

## If your child has a "meltdown" or "tantrum", stay calm and wait for the child to calm down. Then think about the reason for the behaviour.

Follow these steps when the child is showing severe hot or red behaviour: 1) Stay calm to help your child return to calm Model being calm. Try to remain guiet and avoid telling your child to "stop it", "be quiet" or "calm down". 2) Give your child space but stay nearby If you are out and about, ask others to move away to give your child space. If you are at home, if possible, bring your child to a "safe spot" in your home. Protect your child and others 3) While in a "meltdown" children could injure themselves or others because of the state of distress they are in. - Protect your child and others around them if needed. For example, move the child if she/he is near something dangerous, like a hot stove or a roadway. If other children are frightened, comfort them, or ask another adult to help. 4) Do not reward the behaviour Avoid rewarding the hot or red behaviour with extra attention or by trying to calm the child with a treat. Give attention when the child has calmed down or stopped the behaviour. 5) Offer a choice of a calming routine When the meltdown is coming to an end, you could offer a choice between calming options (use visuals if necessary): e.g. "Wash face or drink water?" Then, when the meltdown is over, try to understand the behaviour 6) Once the child has calmed down, think about what happened before the behaviour. Is there a trigger that could be avoided, such as too much noise or a difficult transition from a favourite activity to an activity the child does not like? Try to understand what message the child was sending with this behaviour. Was the child tired, hungry or distressed about something?

#### Tip 4, continued



Stay calm to help your child return to calm.



Avoid rewarding the behaviour with extra attention or trying to calm the child with a treat.



Give your child space but stay nearby.



Give attention when the child has calmed down.



Once the child has calmed down, think about what happened before the behaviour. Try to understand what message the child was sending.

# Before, During and After Behaviour chart for Session 7

Before	During (the behaviour)	After	Reason for behaviour	How to reduce the behaviour
and a second		P 12	Ø	
What happened immediately before the behaviour?	How did the child behave?	What happened immediately after the behaviour?	What was the reason for the behaviour?	What could you do to prevent the behaviour?
<ul> <li>Did you ask your child to do something?</li> <li>Was there a change in activities?</li> <li>Was a favourite toy or item not available?</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Crying and lying on the floor?</li> <li>Refusing to collaborate with an important task?</li> <li>Screaming "no"?</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Did you give attention (positive or negative)?</li> <li>Did you give your child access to something?</li> <li>Did you stop the activity?</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>To get access to something</li> <li>To get attention</li> <li>To avoid or stop something</li> <li>To get a sensation</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Provide praise and encouragement</li> <li>Set up the environment by reducing clutter and adding structure</li> <li>Give clear and consistent instructions</li> <li>Give warnings before changing activities</li> <li>Use countdowns or timers</li> </ul>

## Home practice activity

#### Choose 2 home routines that you will do with your child or involve your child

**in.** These could be the same routines as you did before, or something different. Choose something you will try to do every day. When you do the routine, plan to spend at least 5 minutes focusing on noticing and responding to your child's communication and:

- 1) Look and listen for challenging behaviours and their signals in your routines. Think about what happens before the challenging behaviour. Use your "Before, During and After Behaviour" chart as a reminder.
- Choose 1 skill from the "want to see more" list (see "Personal goals" on page 7)

Plan to notice when your child is doing this behaviour each day. **Make a plan** for how to praise and reward your child with attention, smiles and kind words.

- **3)** Look and listen for a challenging transition Try one strategy that you learned today.
- Remember to practice the tips from this session:

#### Tips



1. Respond to skills and appropriate behaviour with praise and encouragement.



2. Look and listen for signals before the challenging behaviour.



3. Arrange your environment and give warnings before changing activities to help your child stay cool.



 If your child has a "meltdown" or "tantrum", stay calm and wait for the child to calm down. Then think about the reason for the behaviour.

Key messages

 Children can communicate by using challenging behaviour to get access or attention, to avoid something or to get a sensation.

## Questions to check your own learning

Try to answer these questions after the session to check your own learning. When you finish, you can check the answers on the following page.

#### **Question 1**

**Instructions:** Match the behaviour on the left with the reason for the behaviour on the right by drawing a line that connects the two. Afterwards, check your answers on the following pages.

A. When Tyree is playing To get access to outside and his mother something. tries to bring him inside for bedtime, he says "No, no, no!" and falls to the ground. B. Jacob likes to stare at To get attention. lights and sometimes he wiggles his fingers in front of his eyes. When he is excited, sometimes he flaps his arms like wings. C. When her father To avoid or delay is talking on the something. telephone, Anna starts yelling and throwing her toys onto the floor. D. When Saanvi and To get a sensation. her mother walk by a store that sells sweets, Saanvi whines and tries to pull her mother towards the store.

**Instructions:** Choose the best answer for each question from the options below. Afterward, check your answers and circle the correct option.

#### **Question 2**

Anne wants to make it easier for Tyree to stay calm and cool when they are getting ready to leave the house in the morning. What should she do?

- A. Say "Good try!" when he tries to dress himself and puts his shirt on backwards.
- B. Tell him that he can play for two more minutes and then it will be time to put on his shoes.
- C. Try to act and speak calmly when she talks to him.
- D. All of the above (A, B and C).

## **Answers to questions**

These are the answers to the questions to check your own learning on the previous pages. Only check the answers after you have tried to answer the questions. When you finish checking the answers, go back to the questions and circle the correct answer.

#### Question 1:

#### Answers and explanation:

A. To avoid or delay something

When Tyree refuses to go inside to bed and falls on the ground, he is delaying his bedtime. Refusing to go inside may help him stay outside longer. This behaviour also gives him attention from his mother.

B. To get a sensation

Jacob gets a sensation from his vision when he stares at the lights and wiggles his fingers in front of his eyes. He gets the sensation of movement when he flaps his arms. These sensations help him feel calm.

C. To get attention

When Anna makes a noise when her father is on the telephone, he comes over to tell her to be quiet. This gives her attention. Even negative attention can be a reward for a child.

D. To get access to something Saanvi wants her mother to buy her sweets. Sometimes when she whines extra loudly, her mother gives in and buys her sweets to keep her quiet. Now every time they walk by the store, Saanvi whines loudly.

Answer to Question 2: D: All of the above (A, B and C)

#### **Explanation:**

Praising children for good behaviour, giving two minutes advanced notice before changing activities and remaining calm yourself are all good ways to help children stay calm and cool.

## Services and resources for families

This information describes local services and resources for you, your child and your family. [To be completed based on local context]

What can I do if my child is ill?

What can I do if I think my child might have been hurt or abused by someone?

What can I do if my family needs things that we do not have?

What can I do if there are difficulties at home?

What can I do if my family has other challenges?

What can I do if I feel I am not coping well?

\_\_\_\_\_

\_\_\_\_\_

## Notes:

## **Next steps**

Date of next group session:

In the next group session, we will discuss child behaviour and strategies to reduce challenging behaviour.

If you cannot come to the next session for whatever reason, you are still welcome to come to the following session. If you come to the following session 15 minutes early, we will help you to review the things you have missed.

## Session 8: Teaching alternatives to challenging behaviour



## Contents

Overview	194
Home practice review	195
What we will learn today	
Personal goals	
The Behaviour Thermometer	
Tip 1	199
Activity or day schedules show your child many steps at a time	200
Four goals for responding to challenging behaviour	201
Maya's story	203
Luc's story	205
Key message 1	206
Challenging behaviour to get access to something	207
How to respond to challenging behaviour that aims to get access to something	208
Tip 2	209
Challenging behaviour that seeks attention	211
How to respond to challenging behaviour that seeks attention	212
Тір 3	
Challenging behaviour to stop or avoid something	214
How to respond to challenging behaviour to avoid something	
Tip 4	216
Challenging behaviour to get access to a sensation	217
How to respond to challenging behaviour to get a sensation	218
Тір 5	219
Before, During and After Behaviour chart for Session 8	220
Home practice activity	221
Questions to check your own learning	223
Answers to questions	225
Services and resources for families	227
Next steps	229

## **Overview**

		ite, time, ocation	
Home visit 1			
Call to check in			
Session 1	Introduction – Getting children engaged		
Call to check in			
Session 2	Keeping children engaged		
Call to check in			
Session 3	Helping children to share engagement in play and home routines		
Text message remin	der about next session		
Session 4	Understanding communication		
Text message remin	der about next session		
Session 5 Promoting communication			
Home visit 2 (betwee	en sessions 5 and 6)		
Session 6 Teaching new skills in small steps and levels of help			
Text message reminder about next session			
Session 7 Preventing challenging behaviour – helping children to stay engaged and regulated			
Call to check in			
Session 8	Teaching alternatives to challenging behaviour		
Text message reminder about next session			
Session 9	Session 9 Problem-solving and self-care		
Home visit 3			
Additional session	S		

## Home practice review

#### Our target routines were:

1)			
2)			

Our target challenging behaviour was:

To reduce/stop the behaviour I tried to:

I think the behaviour happened because:

## What we will learn today

- More about how to manage challenging behaviour.
- How to identify challenging behaviours and help your child to decrease these behaviours.



## **Personal goals**

The two target routines I plan to do with my child this week are:

1)	
-	
-	
2)	
_	
_	

	Want to see more (appropriate behaviour)	Want to see less often (challenging behaviour)
Routine 1:		
Routine 2:		

Today we will plan how to respond to these challenging behaviours.

## **The Behaviour Thermometer**

What did you notice about your child's behaviour this week?



My child is hot/red when:

My child is warm/yellow when:

My child is cool/green when:

## Hot/ red

Very upset, angry or overexcited. Needing help to calm down.

## Warm/yellow

Showing first signs of frustration, distress, upset.

# Cool/ green

Calm, alert and ready to learn.

## 🎁 Tip 1

# Use picture schedules to help your child to understand activities and stay calm

 First-then schedules show your child what is happening now and what will happen next.



- You can show the two pictures to the child and say, "First we wash our face and hands, and then we put on clothes."
- Pictures schedules help to warn your child that a change is coming.
- This can lower anxiety and stress about what will happen next.

# Activity or day schedules show your child many steps at a time

This after-school schedule has a picture for each step the child will do once she/he comes home:



# Four goals for responding to challenging behaviour

#### Reason for the behaviour



To get access to something





Help the child to use communication skills to ask (by using a gesture, sign, picture, or saying a word) OR - if you do not wish to provide the item – be consistent and do not give the item when there is challenging behaviour.



To get attention





Give no attention or response for challenging behaviour (ignore the behaviour) ...



... AND reward appropriate behaviour and skills with praise and attention.

### **REASON FOR THE BEHAVIOUR**



To stop or avoid something



#### **GOAL FOR RESPONDING**



Set clear, consistent and appropriate expectations and help your child to understand that challenging behaviour will not stop the activity.



To get a sensation





Provide a safe and appropriate way of getting the sensation ...



... AND help your child to communicate to get the sensation she/he wants.

## Maya's story

Look and listen for:

- 1) What happens *before* the behaviour.
- 2) The challenging behaviour.
- 3) What happens *after* the behaviour.

What is the message the child is sending with the challenging behaviour? Notice how the caregiver responds.



Maya's mother has been working on a tooth-brushing routine every night. Maya does not like brushing her teeth. Her mother reminds her that it is time to brush her teeth before she goes to bed. Maya ignores her mother's reminder and continues to play around with her brother.



Maya's mother waits for a couple of minutes and then asks Maya again to brush her teeth. Maya whines to have a few more minutes to play before bed. Sometimes Maya's mother lets her have more time to avoid the battle over brushing her teeth.



Sometimes she tells her "No" and asks her again to brush her teeth. When she does this, Maya sometimes cries, screams and flops to the floor. Sometimes Maya's mother gives up and does not make her brush her teeth.

## Luc's story

Look and listen for:

- 1) What happens *before* the behaviour.
- 2) The challenging behaviour.
- 3) What happens *after* the behaviour.

What is the message the child is sending with the challenging behaviour? Notice how the caregiver responds.



Louis-Philippe has a job that requires him to make a lot of telephone calls. He tries to make his calls while his son Luc is at school but calls still need to be made when Luc is at home. When Louis-Philippe answers the telephone, Luc begins to yell for his dad loudly "Dad, dad! Look at this! Dad, dad!" and runs around the house.



Louis-Philippe tries to continue the call but eventually Luc's running and yelling are so loud that Louis-Philippe tells his son loudly to stop or tries to get Luc to sit quietly with him while still on the telephone.



## Find out the reason for your child's challenging behaviour and decide how to respond based on that reason (to get access or attention, to avoid or to get a sensation)


# Challenging behaviour to get access to something

Example of an incorrect response that will increase challenging behaviour



Behaviour can help children get access to something they want

## Why should we respond in a different way?

Giving children what they want when they scream and cry, without teaching them a new way to request, will not help them to learn to use words and gestures to communicate.

# How to respond to challenging behaviour that aims to get access to something

When you want the child to have the item, help the child use communication skills (a gesture, sign, picture, or saying a word)



When you do not wish to give the item, do not give in. Be consistent, do not give the child the item while the child is showing challenging behaviour.



## 🎁 Tip 2

# Respond to challenging behaviour that aims to get access by teaching your child to use communication skills

- Respond to challenging behaviour that aims to get access by teaching your child to use communication skills:
  - words
  - gestures
  - sign language
  - pointing to a picture of the item.
- Show and say demonstrate words and gestures your child can use to communicate.
- Work on communication strategies each day when your child is cool, calm and ready to learn. This way you can help your child to build the skills she/he needs to replace the challenging behaviour.



She notices his behaviour to get access (crying and reaching) and responds by using *show and say* – she demonstrates words ("Want snack!") and a gesture (pointing) he can use to request.



Then she waits for a moment to give him room to try these communication skills.

#### Tip 2, continued



He doesn't try the new skills this time, but goes back to the same behaviour to get access (crying and reaching).



She responds to his communication (crying and reaching) by giving him the snack right away. She also repeats the words he can use to request ("Want snack!"). She doesn't need to wait for him to try the words and gesture before she gives the snack.

#### **Much** later



After she works on communication skills each day and responds to his behaviour many, many times with words and gestures, he makes a sound and reaches out his hand to request!



She is very excited to see this and responds by giving him the snack right away and saying the words he can use to request ("Want snack!")

# Challenging behaviour that seeks attention

- Behaviour can help a child get attention from someone.
- Attention can be positive (looking at the child, talking to the child or engaging in the activity) or negative (scolding, yelling, physically moving the child).
- Responding to challenging behaviour by giving attention to the child will make it more likely to happen again.



# How to respond to challenging behaviour that seeks attention

Ignore: Do not look at the child or talk to the child while you are waiting for the challenging behaviour to stop.



When the challenging behaviour stops, praise the child right away, even for something very small, such as sitting and being quiet for a few seconds.



## 🍈 Tip 3

# Ignore challenging behaviour that is seeking attention if it is safe and okay to do so

## Ask yourself:

- Could the behaviour hurt my child or another person?
- Is my child scared, hurt or sick (i.e. in need of my attention)?





Do not look at the child, talk to the child or shout while you are waiting for the challenging behaviour to stop (this would reward the child with attention).



Remember that when you begin to ignore behaviour to get attention, it will usually get worse before it gets better. This is because your child will usually try harder to get you to notice her/him.



When the challenging behaviour stops, praise your child right away, even for something very small, such as sitting and being quiet for a few seconds.

# Challenging behaviour to stop or avoid something

Behaviour can help a child stop or avoid something that she/he does not like.





# How to respond to challenging behaviour to avoid something

If the routine is challenging for your child, try to:

- make the routine easier for your child;
- offer help;
- use picture schedules;
- use countdowns or timers.

If your child can do the activity, be clear, kind and firm. Help your child to understand that challenging behaviour will not stop the activity.







# Set clear, consistent and appropriate expectations to reduce challenging behaviour that aims to avoid or stop a routine

- "Clear" Use words your child can understand.
- "Consistent" Expect the same thing from your child each time and increase your expectations slowly over time.
- "Appropriate" Choose activities and routines at the right level for your child:
  - If the activity is too difficult, make it easier or more fun for your child, offering help, praising, setting up the space, singing or finding an easier time to do the activity.
  - If the activity is too easy, make it more interesting by varying the materials or teaching new steps.



# Challenging behaviour to get access to a sensation

Behaviour can help a child get sensation (a feeling)



A child tries to touch strangers' clothing because the child likes the feeling of fabric.



A child chews on things that are dirty or unsafe, such as items from the ground.

# How to respond to challenging behaviour to get a sensation

Choose a more appropriate way to give the child the sensation.

For a child who tries to touch strangers' clothing because the child likes the feeling of fabric:



Provide the child with a piece of fabric they can touch instead.



Teach the child to ask for the piece of fabric using words or gestures.

For a child who chews on things that are dirty or unsafe, such as items from the ground:



Create a necklace that the child can chew on by putting some flexible plastic tubing on a string.



Teach the child to chew on the necklace instead of dirty or unsafe things.

## 🎁 Tip 5

# Teach a safe and appropriate behaviour to replace sensation-seeking challenging behaviour.

- Ask yourself: Does this behaviour put my child at risk? Does this behaviour disrupt my child's engagement and learning? If not, think about focusing first on another challenging behaviour.
- Teach a safe and appropriate behaviour to give access to the same sensation. This behaviour will replace the current challenging behaviour.
- Teach your child to ask to get the sensation they want.



A child touches a stranger's clothing because the child likes to touch fabric.



Give the child a piece of fabric to touch instead and teach the child to ask for it using words or gestures.

# Before, During and After Behaviour chart for Session 8

Before	During (the behaviour)	After	Reason for behaviour	How to reduce the behaviour
A CONTRACT			0	
What happened immediately before the behaviour?	How did the child behave?	What happened immediately after the behaviour?	What was the reason for the behaviour?	What could you do to prevent the behaviour? How should you respond based on the reason for the behaviour?
<ul> <li>Did you ask your child to do something?</li> <li>Was there a change in activities?</li> <li>Was a favourite toy or item not available?</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Crying and lying on the floor?</li> <li>Refusing to collaborate with an important task?</li> <li>Screaming "no"?</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Did you give attention (positive or negative)?</li> <li>Did you give your child access to something?</li> <li>Did you stop the activity?</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>To get access to something</li> <li>To get attention</li> <li>To avoid or stop something</li> <li>To get a sensation</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Teach words and gestures for requesting.</li> <li>Ignore behaviour if it is safe and OK to do so.</li> <li>Set clear, consistent and appropriate expectations.</li> <li>Teach a new way to get a sensation.</li> </ul>

## Home practice activity

- Choose 2 everyday activities (home routines) that you will do with your child or involve your child in. These could be the same activities you did before, or something different. Choose something you do each day. When you do the activity, plan to spend at least 5 minutes with your child and notice and respond to your child's communication.
- Look and listed for challenging behaviours and their signals.
   Think about what happens before, during and after the challenging behaviour.

#### Use the plan you made to respond to the challenging behaviour.

#### The target challenging behaviours are:

Activity 1
3ehaviour:
Reason for behaviour:
Plan to respond:
Activity 2
Behaviour:
Reason for behaviour:
Plan to respond:

## Remember to practise the tips from this session:

#### Tips



1. Use picture schedules to help your child understand activities and stay calm.



2. Respond to challenging behaviour that aims to get access by teaching your child to use communication skills.



3. Ignore challenging behaviour that is seeking attention if it is safe and okay to do so.



4. Set clear, consistent and appropriate expectations to reduce challenging behaviour that aims to avoid or stop a routine.



5. Teach a safe and appropriate behaviour to replace sensationseeking challenging behaviour.

#### Key messages

• Find out the reason for your child's challenging behaviour and decide how to respond based on that reason (to get access or attention, to avoid or to get a sensation).

# Questions to check your own learning

Try to answer these questions after the session to check your own learning. When you finish, you can check the answers on the following page.

### **Question 1**

**Instructions:** Match the behaviour on the left with the goal for your response to the behaviour on the right by drawing a line that connects the two. Some behaviours may have more than one goal. Afterward, check your answers on the following pages.

 When Tyree is playing outside and his mother tries to bring him inside for bedtime, he says "No, no, no!" and falls to the ground.

- B. Jacob likes to stare at lights and sometimes he wiggles his fingers in front of his eyes.
  When he is excited, sometimes he flaps his arms like wings.
- C. When her father is talking on the telephone, Anna starts yelling and throwing her toys onto the floor.
- D. When Saanvi and her mother walk by a store that sells sweets, Saanvi whines and tries to pull her mother toward the store.

Do not give the item when there is challenging behaviour.

Give no attention or response (ignore the behaviour) then reward appropriate behaviour with praise and attention.

Set clear expectations and help the child to understand that challenging behaviour will not delay the activity.

Show the child a better way to get the sensation, but if the behaviour does not disrupt engagement and learning, think about focusing on another challenging behaviour first. **Instructions:** Choose the best answer for each question from the options below. Afterward, check your answers and circle the correct option.

## **Question 2**

Maya's mother wants to make it easier for Maya to cooperate when she is braiding Maya's hair. What should she do when she is braiding and Maya starts whining?

- A. Make sure that she is being gentle and not hurting Maya.
- B. Sing a song while she continues to braid.
- C. Count down the number of seconds until the activity is finished.
- D. Plan to braid one side and then take a break before braiding the other side, rather than taking a break when Maya starts whining.
- E. All of the above (A, B, C and D)

## **Answers to questions**

These are the answers to the questions to check your own learning on the **previous page.** Only check the answers after you have tried to answer the questions. When you finish checking the answers, go back to the questions and circle the correct answer.

#### **Question 1:**

#### Answers and explanation:

- A. Set clear expectations and help the child understand that challenging behaviour will not delay the activity.
  - When Tyree refuses to go inside to bed and falls on the ground, he is delaying his bedtime. His mother can set clear expectations by showing him a "first-then" card, and say "first we play outside, then we get ready for bed". She can also count down how much time Tyree has left to play. She should try not to let Tyree stay outside longer when he is showing challenging behaviour.
- B. Show the child a better way to get the sensation, but if the behaviour does not disrupt engagement and learning, think about focusing first on another challenging behaviour.
  - Jacob gets a sensation from his vision when he stares at the lights and wiggles his fingers in front of his eyes. He gets the sensation of movement when he flaps his arms. These sensations help him feel calm. If these behaviours do not get in the way of him interacting with other people and learning, it might be best to focus on other challenging behaviours first.
- C. Give no attention or response (ignore the behaviour) then reward appropriate behaviour with praise and attention.
  - If Anna's father comes over to tell Anna to be quiet, this gives her attention and even negative attention can be a reward for a child. It would be best if he did not look at Anna or talk to her while she is showing challenging behaviour. Then as soon as she is quiet, he should go to her and tell her that she is doing a good job being quiet.

- D. Do not give the item when there is challenging behaviour. Give no attention or response (ignore the behaviour), then reward appropriate behaviour with praise and attention.
  - Saanvi wants her mother to buy her sweets and every time they walk by the store, Saanvi whines loudly. Sannvi's mother should not give Saanvi sweets when she is whining. She can ignore Saanvi's whining by not looking or talking to Saanvi while she is whining. Then, as soon as Saanvi is quiet, her mother should praise her with kind words: "You're calm now!"

#### Answer to Question 2: E: All of the above (A, B, C and D)

#### Explanation:

Maya's mother could make it easier for Maya to cooperate with braiding by singing, being gentle and using a countdown or timer.

If braiding is a long activity, she can plan to take a break after finishing one side.

Maya's mother should avoid stopping the activity when Maya is whining. If she stops braiding when Maya is whining, it will make it more likely that Maya will whine in future.

She could also make it easier for Maya by using a picture schedule to show Maya what will happen after braiding is finished.

## Services and resources for families

This information describes local services and resources for you, your child and your family. [To be completed based on local context]

What can I do if my child is ill?

What can I do if I think my child might have been hurt or abused by someone?

What can I do if my family needs things that we do not have?

What can I do if there are difficulties at home?

What can I do if my family has other challenges?

What can I do if I feel I am not coping well?

\_\_\_\_\_

\_\_\_\_\_

## Notes:

## **Next steps**

Date of next group session:

In the next group session we will learn about continuing to make progress with your children and how to care for ourselves.

If you cannot come to the next session for whatever reason, you are still welcome to come to the following session. If you come to the following session 15 minutes early, we will help you to review the things you have missed.

# 

Session 9: Problem-solving and self-care



# Contents

Overview	232
Home practice review	233
What we will learn today	235
Review of target skills	236
Planning your child's next communication goals	238
Key message 1	239
Тір 1	240
Tip 2	241
Rosa's story Part 1: Learning to look after my health and well-being	242
Key message 2	246
Rosa's story Part 2: Problem-solving	247
Key message 3	252
Home practice activity	253
Questions to check your own learning	255
Answers to questions	257
Services and resources for families	
Next steps	261
Annex: Summary of tips and key messages	262

## **Overview**

		Date, time, location
Home visit 1		
Call to check in		
Session 1	Introduction – Getting children engaged	
Call to check in		
Session 2	Keeping children engaged	
Call to check in		
Session 3	Helping children to share engagement in play and home routines	
Text message reminder	about next session	
Session 4	Understanding communication	
Text message reminder	about next session	
Session 5	Promoting communication	
Home visit 2 (between	sessions 5 and 6)	
Session 6	Teaching new skills in small steps and levels of help	
Text message reminder	about next session	
Session 7	Preventing challenging behaviour – helping children to stay engaged and regulated	
Call to check in		
Session 8	Teaching alternatives to challenging behaviour	
Text message reminder	about next session	
Session 9	Problem-solving and self-care	
Home visit 3		
Additional sessions		

# Home practice review

This past week you practised strategies to reduce or stop challenging behaviour in your target routines.

Target routine	1:	
Target challeng	ing behaviour:	
Reason for the	behaviour (Circle):	
Тс	o get access to something	To get attention
Тс	o stop or avoid something	To get a sensation
Tip that worked	well:	
Next time I can	try	
•		
•		
•		

Participants' guide, group sessions 1–9

Target routine 2:	
Target challenging behaviour:	
Reason for the behaviour (Circle):	
To get access to something	To get attention
To stop or avoid something	To get a sensation
Tip that worked well:	
Next time I can try	
•	
•	
-	

## What we will learn today

- How to continue practising skills and goal-setting;
- About caregiver stress and self-care;
- How to find solutions to problems that may come up.



# **Review of target skills**

1) My child's current communication target skill is:

Do I need to change my target? YES NO

My new communication target skill is:

## 2) Our target play and home routines are:

1.			
2.			

#### Other play and home routines I will work on next are:

1	
c	
۷.	
3	 

#### 3) My child's target challenging behaviours are:

#### 4) Our big task is:

1. \_\_\_\_\_

The small step we are working on is:

The next small step we will work on is:

2.\_\_\_\_\_

The small step we are working on is:

The next small step we will work on is:

#### 5) One thing I will do to improve my own well-being

\_\_\_\_\_

# Planning your child's next communication goals

This chart can help you to decide your child's next communication goals.

1) Find the description of how your child is communicating to request and to share things now.

2) Put a circle around the step that follows where your child is now – this will be your child's next communication goal.

Example: If your child is not yet requesting, her/his next communication goal is to use eye contact to request.

Requesting	Sharing
Child is not yet requesting	Child is not yet sharing
Child uses eye contact to request	Child uses eye contact to share
Child uses gestures: reaches to request, gives to request, points to request	Child uses gestures: shows to share, points to share, gives to share
Child uses a single word to request	Child uses a single word to share
Child uses 2 words together to request	Child uses 2 words together to share
Child uses 3 or more words together to request	Child uses 3 or more words together to share
Child combines many words, gestures and eye contact to request	Child combines many words, gestures and eye contact to share



# Continue to set goals for yourself and your child and review your progress

- Notice which strategies are working well for you and your child, and plan to keep practising
- Remind yourself: what is the next step after we master this skill? Is it:
  - the next target communication skill?
  - the next small step in the routine?
  - the next target challenging behaviour?
  - the next target routine?







# Expand your routine: use *Show and say* to add new steps

- Notice when your routine needs a new step to continue.
- Show and say to demonstrate the step and describe it.



Show: Build with the same blocks in a different way.

Say: Describe at the child's level



*Show:* Build a farm or zoo out of blocks and put animals inside. *Say:* Describe at the child's level



*Show:* Pull zipper up. *Say:* Describe at the child's level.



Praise the child for trying.

## 🏹 Tip 2

# Link two routines together to expand a routine that the child can do

 When your child can do a home routine on her/his own, you can link two routines together.

For example:





If your child can wash her/his hands on their own, the next small step could be to sit at the table for snack time (link washing hands and snack routines).



If your child can brush her/his teeth on their own, the next small step could be to put on pants (link brushing teeth and getting dressed routines).

As adults, we all do many routines each day. You can help children to learn to be more independent when they can do two or more routines on their own.

# **Rosa's story Part 1:** Learning to look after my health and well-being



Rosa lives with her daughter, Lucia, and her 4-year-old son Andrea.



Andrea has a developmental delay and he often becomes very upset and screams. It has been getting more and more stressful for Rosa as her son grows older.


Sometimes Rosa tells herself "I must not be doing a good job". Sometimes she thinks "What is the use of continuing to practise the strategies I learned in the course? His behaviour is getting worse anyway."



Over time, Rosa started to feel tired and irritable. She found it difficult to sleep at night and sometimes she cried. She had bad headaches most days and she did not feel like eating.



One day Rosa saw her friend, Francesca, in the market. Francesca wanted to talk but Rosa said she had to go home instead. Rosa thought to herself, "I should not be wasting my time chatting, I should really be doing chores".



When Rosa took Andrea to his next appointment, she began to cry in front of the nurse. Rosa did not want anyone to know that she was having difficulty and she felt very embarrassed. The nurse asked her what was wrong and Rosa explained everything.



The nurse said she was glad that Rosa told her about her difficulties. She explained that it is common for caregivers of children with developmental difficulties to have a lot of stress. She also said that there are many reasons why Andrea's behaviour might be getting worse and that this does not mean that Rosa should stop trying the strategies she knows.



The nurse explained that some stress is normal, but when we feel a lot of stress, or we have stress over a long period of time, it can have a big impact on everything in our lives – including our emotions, our relationships, our health and our ability to do things.



The nurse explained that it is important for Rosa to take care of herself. In order to be able to do her best with Andrea, Rosa needs to look after herself as well.

The nurse explained that some caregivers find that it is difficult to accept the difficulties with their child, and they can feel like they are constantly struggling with how things are. The nurse said that, while it is not easy to do, it can be helpful if Rosa can: 1) try to acknowledge that the situation is very difficult, 2) accept that Andrea has these difficulties, 3) practise being gentle and forgiving with herself and Andrea, while 4) still focusing on what she can do to help him.

Giving herself permission to take a break, and not always trying to fix everything at all times, is also important. Acceptance does not mean that you like the situation. It just means that you acknowledge what is happening and you focus your efforts on what you can do to look after yourself and your child.



Speaking to the nurse really helped Rosa feel better about her emotions and thoughts. She also realized that she did not need to be so hard on herself. The nurse makes another appointment with Rosa so that they can meet again and talk.



# Care for yourself to help you and your child

- Take care of yourself the best way you can by trying to eat well, getting enough sleep and taking good care of your health.
- Do activities that are important to you and activities that you enjoy.
- Reach out to others and stay connected.



Make your well-being a priority! Make sure you are well so that you can support your child



## **Rosa's story Part 2: Problem-solving**

Before Rosa left the clinic, the nurse asked her to do one small thing to improve her well-being. At first, Rosa was not sure, but the nurse said it would help her and might also help Andrea's behaviour. The nurse asked Rosa to choose something that was meaningful (important) to her and make a clear plan, so Rosa decided to call her friend Francesca that day.



Rosa spoke with Francesca and it made her feel better. She even told Francesca about the difficulties she was having with Andrea and Francesca was very encouraging.



The nurse said they would do some problem solving together because it can help people worry less about their problems. She asked Rosa to think of one problem to work on today that is happening now and involves something that Rosa has control over. She explained that it will not be helpful to choose a problem like "my mother's health might get worse" because this is something that might happen but it's not happening now. Also, her mother's health is not something that Rosa has much control over.



Rosa explained that she wants to visit Francesca but she does not know who will look after Andrea and Lucia. The nurse explained that they would first think of all the possible solutions to the problem they could without judging them.



Rosa suggested these possible solutions:

- Ask my mother-in-law to come to our home to watch Andrea and Lucia while I go to visit Francesca.
- Bring Andrea and Lucia to my mother-in-law's home so she can watch them while I am with Francesca.
- Ask Francesca to come to my home for the visit (and Andrea and Lucia can stay with me at home).



The nurse asked Rosa if she could think of any more options and Rosa added to the list

• Ask Maria (from the caregiver training course).

Maria has a son who is around the same age as Andrea. Maria and Rosa had talked about the possibility of minding each other's children so that the other could take a break.



Once the list was complete, the nurse asked Rosa to think about what solutions would be less suitable. Rosa said that her mother-in-law is very busy.



The nurse encouraged Rosa to think about the two options that remained on the list and the advantages and disadvantages of each. Here are her ideas:

## Ask Francesca to come to my home for the visit (and Andrea and Lucia can stay with me at home)

Pros	Cons
– I do not have to take the time to travel to visit Francesca	– Francesca will need to travel to my home
	– I enjoy the walk to Francesca's home
	–I will not have a break from Andrea

#### Ask Maria to mind Andrea and Lucia

Pros	Cons
– Maria knows what to do if Andrea has a tantrum	– I would have to mind Luca another time
– Andrea and Lucia could be around Maria's son, Luca	– I am nervous to ask Maria because I have not seen her since the end of the course

When the nurse asked Rosa to choose the solution she thought was best, she chose "Ask Maria to mind Andrea and Lucia". The nurse then asked Rosa to make an action plan by stating exactly what she needed to do to make that solution happen.



Rosa decided that she would call Maria that afternoon to ask if she could mind Andrea and Lucia.



Rosa starts to see that making a plan can help her to worry less and take better care of herself and her family. Rosa goes back to see the nurse and slowly starts to feel better. O→ Key message 3

## You can find solutions to problems by problem-solving

 Follow these steps to find solutions to a problem that is real, is happening now and that you have some control over:



 Think of as many possible solutions as you can.



2. Eliminate solutions that are not suitable.



3. Think of the advantages and disadvantages of the remaining solutions to help you decide which options are the best.



4. Pick at least one solution and make an action plan that is very clear and specific.



5. Try out your plan!

## Home practice activity

Building children's skills:

 For each of the home routines you are working on, decide on the next 2–3 small steps. Plan to start teaching your child at least one of those steps within the next week.

#### Routine1

Steps I can try to add:

1	
2.	
3	
4	

#### **Routine 2**

•	Steps I can try to add:
1.	
_	

2.			
3.			
4.			

#### Self-care:

Choose one activity that is important to you and plan to spend at least 5 minutes doing this activity every other day.
This could be a very simple activity such as talking to someone you care about, singing, doing something for others or spending 5 minutes sitting quietly, etc.

#### Remember to practise the tips from this session:

Tips





- 1. Expand your routines: use *Show and say* to add new steps.
- 2. Link two routines together to expand a routine that the child can do.

Key messages

- Continue to set goals for yourself and your child and review your progress.
- Care for yourself to help you and your child.
- You can find solutions to problems by problem-solving.

## Questions to check your own learning

Try to answer these questions after the session to check your own learning. When you finish, you can check the answers on the following page.

#### **Question 1**

Rosa found problem-solving with the nurse very helpful. She would like to remember the steps so that she can use problem-solving the next time she has a problem. What is the correct order of steps for problem-solving? Match the step number on the left with the description of the step on the right by drawing a line that connects them.

	Α.	Think of the advantages and disadvantages of the remaining
Step 1		solutions.
	В.	Choose a problem that is real,
Step 2		is happening now and that you
		have some control over.
Step 3	C.	Choose at least one solution
		and make an action plan that is
Step 4		very clear and specific.
	D.	Eliminate solutions that are not
Step 5		suitable.
	Ε.	Think of as many possible
		solutions as you can.

#### **Question 2**

Rosa is trying to take better care of herself so she is trying to decide which choices will help her well-being and which choices might seem useful in the short term but are likely to be unhelpful for her well-being in the long term. For each of the following choices on the left, decide if they are helpful or unhelpful for Rosa's well-being. Indicate your choice by putting a mark in the box under "Helpful" or "Unhelpful" for each of the options.

A.	Skipping a meal to get extra chores done	Helpful	Unhelpful
Λ.	when she is very busy.		
В.	Asking a trusted person to mind Andrea so that she can have a little break.		
C.	Telling herself often that she should be doing a better job.		
D.	Trying to accept that Andrea is different from the child she was hoping for.		
E.	Talking to her family about how caring for herself can help the whole family.		
F.	Staying up late to get more things done while her children are asleep.		

## **Answers to questions**

These are the answers to the questions to check your own learning on the **previous page.** Check the answers only after you have tried to answer the questions. When you finish checking the answers, go back to the questions and circle the correct answer.

Question 1 Answers:

**Step 1:** B. Choose a problem that is real, is happening now and that you have some control over.

Step 2: E. Think of as many possible solutions as you can.

Step 3: D. Eliminate solutions that are not suitable.

**Step 4:** A. Think of advantages and disadvantages for the remaining solutions.

**Step 5:** C. Choose at least one solution and make an action plan that is very clear and specific.

**Question 2** Answers and explanations:

#### **Explanation:**

- A. Skipping a meal to get extra chores done when she is very busy is unhelpful. Trying to eat regularly and eating the best food we can is likely to be helpful for both our bodies and our minds. Even if skipping a meal helps Rosa to get more work done in the short term, it may hurt her well-being and make it difficult for her to do as much in the long term.
- B. Asking a trusted person to mind Andrea so that she can have a little break is helpful. It is important that Rosa tries not to feel guilty for needing a break now and again and remind herself that her own well-being is important and helps her, Andrea and the rest of their family.
- C. Telling herself often that she should be doing a better job is unhelpful. Rosa can try to do the best job she can but she should avoid criticizing herself because this will hurt her well-being.
- D. Trying to accept that Andrea is different from the child she was hoping for is helpful. If Rosa spent a lot of her energy wishing that her son did not have a developmental delay, this would not be very helpful to her. It would be better for her to accept the reality that he does have these challenges, and then use her energy to help him rather than wishing his challenges would go away.
- E. Talking to her family about how caring for herself can help the whole family is helpful. Feeling supported by other people is very important for well-being. It is important that Rosa's family understands that when Rosa takes care of herself she is helping the rest of the family.
- F. Staying up late to get more things done while her children are asleep is unhelpful. Sleep is important to maintain our energy, and the amount of sleep we get can also have an impact on our stress and emotions. It might be tempting for Rosa to stay up late to get more work done in the short term, but it will hurt her well-being in the long term.

## Services and resources for families

This information describes local services and resources for you, your child and your family. [To be completed based on local context]

What can I do if my child is ill?

What can I do if I think my child might have been hurt or abused by someone?

What can I do if my family needs things that we do not have?

What can I do if there are difficulties at home?

What can I do if my family has other challenges?

What can I do if I feel I am not coping well?

Participants' guide, group sessions 1–9

### Notes:


## **Next steps**

This was out last group session. Congratulations for participating in the course!

Date of last home visit:

You may want to continue to keep in contact or plan to meet again with the other course participants. You are in a special position to be able to understand each other's challenges and struggles and to offer support. If you are interested in meeting again, it can be helpful if a couple of people want to collect contact information and plan the next time and place to meet. The facilitators can speak with you after this session to help you know what you need to do to organize a caregivers' group.

### Annex 1: Summary of tips and key messages



#### 🐮 Tips



1. Set up the space: remove distractions and make a safe place to interact.



2. Start with 2 or 3 motivating choices and follow your child's choice.



 Move in front of your child, get down to your child's level, and have the activity between you and the child.

#### 🔤 Key messages

- All children can learn and develop skills.
- Children learn best when they are calm and cool.
- You can help your child to develop by engaging with her/him in everyday activities and games.

#### Session 2: Keeping children engaged 🐐 Tips GOOD JOB 1. Look and listen -2. Find out how your child 3. Look and listen - Notice Notice what your child likes to play and show the when your child is being is motivated by and child new ways to play. good and respond with interested in. praise. 🚾 Key messages Children have more opportunities to learn when they are sharing engagement – noticing you and your activity.

- Children learn best during activities that are fun, positive and full of praise.
- Children can learn communication skills and other skills by playing with you.





- Children communicate using words, behaviour without words, and challenging behaviour.
- Look and listen to notice when your child is communicating.
- When you notice your child communicating, find out what message your child is trying to send you.









- Care for yourself to help you and your child.
- You can find solutions to problems by problem-solving.

Caregiver skills training for families of children with developmental delays or disabilities

World Health Organization 20 Avenue Appia CH-1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland

